The Relationship Between Rejection Sensitivity and Higher Order Cognitive Functions

by

Rachel Gaynor

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts Department of Psychology College of Arts and Sciences University of South Florida

Major Professor: Geoffrey Potts, Ph.D. Ruthann Atchley, Ph.D. Jon Rottenberg, Ph.D.

> Date of Approval: April 30, 2024

Keywords: Electroencephalography, Event-Related Potential, N200, Flanker, Inhibition

Copyright © 2024, Rachel Gaynor

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iii
List of Figures	V
Abstract	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Self-Regulation and Executive Function	2
Inhibition	
Rejection Sensitivity	5
Rejection Sensitivity and Executive Function	
The Current Study	
Chapter 2: Methods	
Participants	
Measures	
RSQ	
Flanker	
SAM	
Hypotheses	
Procedure	
EEG Acquisition	
Statistical Analyses	20
Behavioral	20
ERP	
Chapter 3: Results	
Behavioral	
Reaction Time	
Accuracy	
ERP	
Chapter 4: Discussion	
Limitations	
References	
Appendix I: Supplemental Tables	45
Appendix II: Supplemental Figures	64

Appendix III: IRB Approval Letter	76
-----------------------------------	----

List of Tables

Table 1	Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants15
Table 2	Rejection Sensitivity Score Distribution17
Table 3	Repeated-Measures Multi Level Model ANOVA Results: Reaction Time 22
Table 4	Repeated-Measures Multi Level Model ANOVA Results: Accuracy 26
Table 5	Repeated-Measures Multi Level Model ANOVA Results: N2 30
Table A1	Reaction Time: Estimated Marginal Means of Congruency45
Table A2	Reaction Time: Paired T-tests of Congruency 45
Table A3	Reaction Time: Estimated Marginal Means of Block
Table A4	Reaction Time: Paired T-tests of Block
Table A5	Reaction Time: Congruency x Flanker Estimated Marginal Means
Table A6	Reaction Time: Congruency x Flanker Pairwise Comparisons
Table A7	Reaction Time: Rejection Sensitivity x Flanker Estimated Marginal Means 48
Table A8	Reaction Time: Rejection Sensitivity x Flanker Pairwise Comparison
Table A9	Reaction Time: Congruency x Block Estimated Marginal Means 49
Table A10	Reaction Time: Congruency x Block Post Hoc Comparisons
Table A11	Reaction Time: RS x Block Estimated Marginal Means 50
Table A12	Reaction Time: RS x Block Pairwise Comparison 50
Table A13	Reaction Time: Block x Flanker x Congruency Estimated Marginal Means 51
Table A14	Reaction Time: Block x Flanker x Congruency Pairwise Comparisons 51
Table A15	Accuracy: Estimated Marginal Means of Block 52

Table A16	Accuracy: Paired T-tests of Block	52
Table A17	Accuracy: RS x Congruency Estimated Marginal Means	53
Table A18	Accuracy: RS x Congruency Pairwise Comparison	53
Table A19	Accuracy: Block x Congruency Estimated Marginal Means	54
Table A20	Accuracy: Block x Congruency Pairwise Comparison	54
Table A21	Accuracy: RS x Block Estimated Marginal Means	55
Table A22	Accuracy: RS x Block Pairwise Comparisons	55
Table A23:	Accuracy: Block x Flanker Estimated Marginal Means	56
Table A24	Accuracy: Block x Flanker Pairwise Comparisons	56
Table A25	Accuracy: RS x Block x Congruency Estimated Marginal Means	57
Table A26	Accuracy: RS x Block x Congruency Pairwise Comparison	57
Table A27	Accuracy: Block x Flanker x Congruency Estimated Marginal Means	58
Table A28	Accuracy: Block x Flanker x Congruency Pairwise Comparisons	58
Table A29:	N2: Estimated Marginal Means of Block	59
Table A30	N2: Paired T-tests of Block	59
Table A31:	N2: Block x RS Estimated Marginal Means	60
Table A32	N2: Block x RS Pairwise Comparison	60
Table A33	N2: Block x Trial Estimated Marginal Means	61
Table A34	N2: Block x Trial Pairwise Comparison	61
Table A35	N2: RS x Congruency x Flanker Estimated Marginal Means	62
Table A36	N2: Congruency x RS x Flanker Pairwise Comparisons	62
Table A37	N2: RS x Congruency x Trial Estimated Marginal Means	63
Table A38	N2: Block x Trial x RS Pairwise Comparison	63

List of Figures

Figure 1	Accuracy: Rejection Sensitivity x Congruency Interaction
Figure A1	Reaction Time: Main effect of Congruency 64
Figure A2	Reaction Time: Main effect of Block
Figure A3	Reaction Time: Congruency x Flanker Interaction
Figure A4	Reaction Time: Rejection Sensitivity x Flanker Interaction
Figure A5	Reaction Time: Block x Congruency Interaction
Figure A6	Reaction Time: Block x Rejection Sensitivity Interaction
Figure A7	Reaction Time: Block x Flanker x Congruency Interaction
Figure A8	Accuracy: Main Effect of Rejection Sensitivity
Figure A9	Accuracy: Main Effect of Block
Figure A10	Accuracy: Block x Congruency Interaction
Figure A11	Accuracy: Rejection Sensitivity x Block Interaction
Figure A12	Accuracy: Block x Flanker Interaction 69
Figure A13	Accuracy: Rejection Sensitivity x Congruency x Block Interaction
Figure A14	Accuracy: Block x Congruency x Flanker Interaction
Figure A15	N2: Main Effect of Block
Figure A16	Topographical Scalp Maps: Block71
Figure A17	N2 Waveforms: Block
Figure A18	N2: Block x Rejection Sensitivity Interaction
Figure A19	N2: Block x Rejection Sensitivity :Scalp Topography and Waveform plots 72

Figure A20	N2: Block x Trial Interaction	73
Figure A21	N2 Waveform plots: Block x Trial	
Figure A22	N2: Rejection Sensitivity x Congruency x Flanker Interaction	74
Figure A23	N2 Waveform plots: RS x Congruency x Flanker	74
Figure A24	N2: Rejection Sensitivity x Block x Trial Interaction	75
Figure A25	N2 Waveform Plots: RS x Block x Trial	75

Abstract

Rejection sensitivity indexes individual differences in the expectation of, reaction to, and interpretation of possible rejection. Research on mechanisms underlying these individual differences have identified a reduction in top-down emotion regulatory processes in those exhibiting heightened rejection sensitivity. Most of these studies utilize rejection-specific affective stimuli. This study examined the relationship between rejection sensitivity score, calculated from the 18-question RSQ, and the recruitment of higher level inhibition resources, as indexed by the conflict N2, on three novel Flanker tasks. In order to further examine previously identified patterns in affective inhibition across differing levels of rejection sensitivity, and to determine whether these patterns hold when affective stimuli do not contain social components, the present study utilized three novel flankers, two of which used affective stimuli: a socialaffective flanker utilizing smiling and contemptuous faces, an asocial affective flanker utilizing human-free affective images, and a neutral flanker utilizing normed fractal images. Individuals who were highly rejection sensitive displayed reduced N2 amplitude when Flankers were negatively valanced, an effect which was strongest when these flankers were faces. They also showed reduced accuracy on incongruent trials regardless of flanker block. Individuals who are high in Rejection Sensitivity display reduced ability to recruit higher level inhibition only in affective context, however global inhibition differences are present in behavioral data, suggesting an additional aspect of inhibition outside of recruitment is associated with Rejection Sensitivity differences.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Humans are social creatures, heavily driven by a need to belong. While some may feel confident in their social belonging, others experience increased fear and doubt about the acceptance of those around them. Rejection Sensitivity (RS) is a cognitive-affective bias describing individual tendency to expect, perceive, and react towards social experiences that may be rejecting (Downey & Feldman, 1996). When someone is more rejection sensitive they experience more extreme negative reactions to social threat (Lesnick & Mendle, 2021; Levy et al., 2001; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2021), leading to difficulty maintaining close relationships and a greater likelihood to develop several psychological conditions (Levy et al., 2001; Rosenbach, 2013; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2021). The degree of rejection sensitivity someone develops is believed to develop as a learned response to early life experiences of rejection, but more recent data has found that the actual ostracization of children did not predict their rejection sensitivity (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2013). In fact, rejection sensitivity itself mediates the impact of negative life events on the development of psychological disorders (Goodman et al., 2014; White & Kistner, 2011). Some additional factors may be associated with increased perception of and distress towards rejection.

Research on mechanisms underlying rejection sensitivity have identified a reduction in top-down emotional regulatory processes (Kawamoto et al., 2015; Kross et al., 2007), and an association with poor emotional regulation strategies (Gardner et al., 2020; Velotti et al., 2015) in individuals high in rejection sensitivity. However, research on any direct connection between rejection sensitivity and inhibition outside of rejection context has been sparse. Our current understanding of how individuals come to develop high RS may indicate a missing factor which may predate the development of high RS. While the current study cannot conclude whether an underlying deficit in inhibition could serve as this vulnerability, it attempts to open the door for further research on the matter. There may be implications for possible protective measures which could help individuals to reduce the negative impacts of high rejection sensitivity, which may have downstream effects on risks for the development of disorders such as depression. If prevention is not possible, it may help to design more effective interventions. Increased rejection sensitivity is much more apparent at first glance than impairments in inhibition. If further research confirms that these processes are highly related, rejection sensitivity may prove to be a valuable warning sign of the heavy risk factor that impaired self-regulation can pose to both health and mortality (Amirian et al., 2010; Trossman et al., 2020).

The following research aimed to examine the interaction between rejection sensitivity and underlying inhibitory function, as well as whether this relationship differs depending on either affective or social context. If those with higher levels of rejection sensitivity exhibit broad deficits in the recruitment of inhibition, it will further current literature on the nature of processing bias towards social stimuli. While scattered literature connects rejection sensitivity to higher order regulation, very little directly examines the relationship between the two. Results may also further research on self-regulation by providing additional avenues by which selfregulation predicts life outcomes.

Self-Regulation and Executive Function

Self-regulation may be defined as control of oneself in pursuit of a goal. This term is an umbrella over processes of any scale- from delaying ones consumption of a marshmallow in order to receive two, or the downregulation of neural activity representing a competing response. Self-regulation requires the use of processes called Executive Functions (EF) (Diamond, 2013). EF broadly refers to top-down regulatory processes which act as a higher level supervisory control system which presides over lower level (automatic) processes (Diamond, 2013; Miyake et al., 2000). There are three core EF processes inhibition, working memory updating, and cognitive flexibility (or set shifting). These core processes provide the basis for complex behaviors, like planning or reasoning (Lehto et al., 2003; Miyake et al., 2000). EF is inherently limited, with task performance decreasing as cognitive load increases (Jing Wen et al., 2019; Siregar, 2021; van't Veer et al., 2014). While there is clear evidence of some form of capacity limit, there are multiple theories on what the exact limiting factor may be. One of more recent prominence suggests attention, under the control of EF inhibition, as an inherent limiting factor across executive functions (Engle, 2002; Engle & Kane, 2003).

Inhibition

Inhibition involves the suppression of prepotent automatic responses. In order to focus attention on relevant information, neural representations of irrelevant cues must be suppressed. Similar to EF, inhibition is considered a family of functions separable into Response Inhibition (suppression of task-irrelevant motor response) and Resistance to Distractor Interference (the suppression of task-irrelevant cues) (Friedman & Miyake, 2004). Inhibition is often separated into additional subcomponents, including Affective (or emotional) Inhibition, the suppression of emotional stimuli or emotional response. Despite common portrayals of so called "Cognitive" (non-emotional) Inhibition and "Emotional" Inhibition as distinct processes, meta-analyses of research on inhibition across multiple domains (using such tasks as the Eriksen Flanker task) show several regions of shared activation across Cognitive, Affective, and Response inhibition which demonstrate the intractable connectedness of these functions (Hung et al., 2018).

Tasks used to measure inhibition often involve competing responses, such as the Stroop or Eriksen Flanker. The Eriksen Flanker task (Eriksen & Eriksen, 1974) is a measure of inhibition for which, in order to correctly respond to the central "target" stimulus, participants must correctly inhibit responses elicited by "flanking" stimuli. It functions as a two-choice forced alternative design. Electrophysiological data can be use in tandem with behavioral data in order to investigate time-order aspects of inhibition. Common ERP (event related potential) measures related to inhibition include the P300, believed to index working memory updating related to target stimulus (Donchin & Coles, 2010), and the N2, a measure of conflict detection, or an "alarm bell" recruiting the use of frontal inhibition circuitry (Groom & Cragg, 2015). These components are also modulated by emotion. Emotional words used in a Stroop task have been shown to enhance N2 amplitude(Kanske & Kotz, 2010). Individuals with high levels of trait anxiety also show reduced P300 amplitude on an emotional flanker (read: a flanker utilizing emotional stimuli) as well as more negative N2 towards incongruent trials (Yu et al., 2018).

Like other complex cognitive functions, the regulation of emotion itself recruits the use of self-regulatory processes such as EF inhibition (Zelazo & Cunningham, 2007). Measures of Executive Function (EF) ability have been found to correlate to effective use of emotional regulation strategies in adolescents (Lantrip et al., 2016), and measures of EF have been found to correlate to emotional regulation (ER) ability (Diamond, 2013; Sperduti et al., 2017). Research on the involvement of EF in emotionally or motivationally salient tasks has shown some level of functional distinction from more abstract executive functions, though some regions of involvement are shared (Hung et al., 2018; Zelazo & Cunningham, 2007). When a task is exclusively made up of emotional regulation, such as delayed gratification tasks or reaction to emotional faces, it is associated with activity in regions in the ventral prefrontal cortex (vPFC) such as the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), which has a strong connection to limbic regions such as the amygdala (Zelazo & Cunningham, 2007). When a non ER task involves inhibition of taskirrelevant emotional stimuli, there is more recruitment of regions known to be involved in cognitive control such as lateral prefrontal cortex (IPFC), dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dIPFC), and parietal regions such as the inter parietal sulcus (IPS) (Banich et al., 2001; Hung et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2010; Zelazo & Cunningham, 2007; Zysset et al., 2001). Both kinds of inhibition involve activation of the anterior insula (Hung et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2017). While these regions appear to be separable, evidence does not always support the dissociability of cognitive and emotional regulation (Allan & Lonigan, 2014). The difficulty may arise due to the heavy communication and connectedness between regions involved in cognitive inhibition and emotional regulation may be best understood as one subcomponent of the larger inhibition system alongside cognitive inhibition, rather than categorizing both as completely distinct pathways (Zelazo & Cunningham, 2007).

Rejection Sensitivity

Downey and Feldman developed their theory of Rejection Sensitivity (RS) as an explanatory mechanism which underlies the impact of attachment style on relationships later in life. They define RS as trait level differences in the anxious expectation, ready perception, and affective response to social rejection (Downey & Feldman, 1996). According to their theory, RS is a stable personality trait measure which is associated with an individual's early life experiences with rejection. Individuals who experience higher amounts of rejection develop a cognitive-affective processing bias towards rejecting stimuli. This bias then leads them to intensely expect and fear rejection from those around them, more-so than their peers (Araiza et al., 2020; Godleski et al., 2019; Levy et al., 2001). Emotional response to rejection may involve

either anger or anxiety, and each is often considered separately due to their divergent associations with behavioral outcomes (Preti et al., 2020; Richetin et al., 2018; Zimmer-Gembeck & Nesdale, 2013). RS is a unique predictor of social dysfunction and has been found to mediate the impact of aversive life experiences on the development of psychiatric disorders (Ayduk et al., 2000; Ayduk et al., 2008; Goodman et al., 2014; White & Kistner, 2011; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2016)

The relationship between RS and rejecting experiences is cyclical. RS is associated with greater use of maladaptive coping strategies such as isolation and rumination (Casini et al., 2022; Pearson et al., 2011). The use of these coping strategies (prompted by peer rejection) is then associated with further increase in RS in adolescents (Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015). However, not all adolescents appear vulnerable to this cyclical increase. Research on RS in children identified a large difference in self-perception of rejection experiences in highly rejection sensitive children compared to reports from peers. They found that, while highly rejection sensitive children saw themselves as more ostracized or victimized by peers, their peers do not identify these individuals as ostracized or victimized. RS was correlated not to reported ostracization by classmates, but to the individuals own perceived distress and lack of satisfaction with their friendships, believed to result in an overestimation of personal ostracization (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2013). Self-Perception of ostracization is mediated by a tendency to overestimate rejecting experiences rather than to peer reports of ostracization (White & Kistner, 2011). Rather than originating purely from learned experiences, high RS may arise from some dysregulation in selfregulatory systems which render certain individuals more vulnerable to the impact of aversive life experiences, which then compounds upon itself.

There is an argument to be made that perhaps the inability to identify peer rejection may serve as a protective barrier for some children, explaining the previous results. Electrophysiological research has investigated whether RS differences in facial processing of rejection cues may mediate the impact of rejection on distress towards rejection and found that there were no differences in ERP (Event Related Potential) correlates of facial feature processing based on RS (Kawamoto et al., 2015). Instead, evidence suggests that individuals high in RS exhibit hypervigilance towards facial cues. While individuals with average levels of RS show attentional bias away from facial images appearing "rejecting" (eyes averted) compared to neutral (eyes forward), highly rejection sensitive individuals show greater distribution of early attentional resources towards these faces as measured utilizing the P2 component, which indexes attention (Ehrlich et al., 2015). This increased bias towards negative stimuli is thought to represent a decrease in the ability to regulate emotional response through diverting attention away from painful non-threatening stimuli, which is theorized to be a risk factor in the development of mood disorders such as depression (Ehrlich et al., 2015; Klawohn et al., 2020). RS indexes a perceptual bias towards rejecting stimuli. Individuals who are high in RS are not accurate reporters of the level of rejection they experience, but are instead over-estimators who may interpret ambiguous interactions as rejection due to heightened vigilance and lack of protective biases away from negative stimuli.

Self-regulation may play an important mediating role in rejection sensitivity. Both early measures of automatic attentional processing and later inhibitory processes have been implicated in current literature. A longitudinal study which examined childhood self-regulation and its impact on adult outcomes found that self-regulation moderates the negative impact of rejection sensitivity. Highly rejection sensitive adults who had higher performance on delayed

gratification tasks (i.e. they were able to self-regulate and resist immediate gratification for longer) had higher self-esteem and self-worth compared to other highly rejection sensitive adults who were not able to delay gratification for as long (Ayduk et al., 2000). Neural measures indicated a similar relationship between experienced distress towards rejection and top-down regulation ability, with reduced activity in frontal regions known to be involved with downregulation of stimuli negatively correlating to both measures of rejection sensitivity and to perceived distress. Kross (2007) and colleagues sought to clarify which regions were involved in the neural mechanism underlying distress to rejecting images in more rejection sensitive individuals. When exposed to images depicting rejection (paintings by Edward Hopper), BOLD activity in several brain regions correlated to reported distress and negatively correlated to individual RS score. These regions included the superior frontal gyrus (SFG) and left Prefrontal Cortex (PFC) (Kross et al., 2007).

Rejection Sensitivity and Executive Function

Rejection sensitivity literature currently has few studies directly examining correlations with cognitive (non-affective) performance; however, it still suggests some overlap of function. The mechanisms which underly differences in the response of high and low RS individuals to negative stimuli involve regions such as the dACC, left IPFC, and dorsal superior frontal gyrus (SFG)(Kross et al., 2007). This evidence comes from fMRI differences between high and low RS individuals while viewing paintings which portray rejection related concepts like isolation. High RS individuals showed reduced activation in frontal regions compared to controls. This included two regions of the IPFC along with the dorsal superior frontal gyrus (SFG). Activity in these frontal regions was negatively correlated with reported distress. In addition, dorsal ACC activation was lower for high RS compared to low RS. It had a moderate strength negative

correlation to distress as well as a strong positive correlation to activation in ventrolateral PFC activity (Kross et al., 2007). ACC and SFG activity have also been implicated in other forms of inhibition. Meta-analysis of proactive interference in working memory found strong connectivity between the IFC and ACC during tasks requiring interference control (Nee et al., 2007). ACC activation has been implicated in various measures of cognitive control (Krug & Carter, 2010), and LPFC regions are implicated in several aspects of EF (Hung et al., 2018; Teuber, 1972). Meta-analysis of studies published on the mechanism of cognitive inhibition in a cluster of dorsal brain regions which show significant concordance across studies. This dorsal cluster of activation involves the dACC and extends to dIPFC regions (Hung et al., 2018). DLPFC activity has also been associated with aggression. Longitudinal research on DLPFC development in children and the association with changes in aggression found a significant correlation between DLPFC activation on a startle task, wherein children heard an unpleasant blast of noise, with behavioral aggression. Children who showed greater developments in DLPFC also showed greater reductions in measured aggression (Achterberg et al., 2020). Despite much of literature describing the OFC as the primary region of activation responsible for emotional inhibition (Hung et al., 2018), LPFC regions are implicated in the mediation of distress and emotional dysregulation across the literature.

This may have something to do with how pure emotional regulation tasks are measured. Pure emotional regulation tasks refer to tasks where the explicit goal is to regulate an emotion, often instructing participants to engage in effortful emotional regulation strategies such as reappraisal (Zelazo & Cunningham, 2007). This may not be completely reflective of how emotional regulation functions in daily life. Emotional regulation in daily life is often implicit or occurs as a secondary task. For example, in a situation where a child attempts to do their

homework after a rough day at school, emotion regulation itself is not their focus but still must be accomplished effectively in order to meet their goals. Fewer studies still examine implicit emotional regulation. An example of a measure of implicit emotion regulation from literature involved showing participants distressing images accompanied by text describing the scenario as real and subsequently informing them the image was from a fictional scenario. Self-report distress ratings were collected both before and after participants were informed that the situation was fictional. This research found that cognitive control was implicated in reducing emotional distress through the integration of new information. Changes in distress ratings also correlated to measures of EF WM updating (Sperduti et al., 2017). Performance measures of executive function mediate the effect of implicit attitudes on behavior. Individuals who performed better on a digit span test, a measure of working memory capacity) showed an increased effect of selfregulatory goals on their behavior than those with poorer performance. This is evident in the ability to resist tempting food and also the ability to regulate anger response to provocation(Hofmann et al., 2008). The aspect of emotional regulation that is dysfunctional in highly rejection sensitive individuals may be more associated with LPFC activity and cognitive control rather than OFC emotional inhibition circuits.

The association of inhibition and rejection sensitivity has multiple possible explanations which may depend on the root cause of their shared functional activation. It is possible that these differences are context specific, with rejection sensitive individuals only showing dysfunction in self-regulatory or EF domains in the presence of emotional stimuli or rejection related stimuli. In this case, differences in LPFC and ACC activation in RS may be due to priming effects and may originate from regions outside of EF circuits. Anxiety research may indicate some support for this explanation. Individuals with anxiety show marked emotional interference, but some studies

fail to find performance differences on reaction time or accuracy in cognitive interference tasks (Konig et al., 2021). Conversely the emotional dysregulation seen in RS may originate from differences within the self-regulatory system. Rather than originating purely from learned experiences, rejection sensitivity may arise from some dysregulation in self-regulatory systems which render certain individuals more vulnerable to the impact of aversive life experiences. As previously discussed, rejection sensitivity has been shown to mediate the impact of emotional mistreatment on the development of BPD (Goodman et al., 2014), and self-perception of ostracization is mediated by a tendency to overestimate rejecting experiences rather than to peer reports of ostracization (White & Kistner, 2011). Individuals with frontal lobe damage often present with emotional dysregulation. One case study on an individual with LPFC damage offers unique insight due to the patient suffering little damage to executive function and working memory processes, allowing him to describe his experience with clarity. Emotional dysregulation took the form of increased emotional reactivity to both positive and negative stimuli as well as reduced ability to regulate emotion (Salas et al., 2014). Supporting this possibility, a voxel-based morphometry study of gray matter volume found significant differences in gray matter volume (GMV) between high and low rejection sensitive groups. High RS groups showed lower gray matter volume around the region of the posterior cingulate cortex and precuneus (Sun et al., 2014). Some research supports the idea of a domain-general network of inhibition which is responsible for both cognitive and emotional inhibition, involving many of these same regions implicated by RS literature. High levels of functional connectivity were identified between regions associated with cognitive and emotional control. Disruption in one region within this network may have diffuse effects on multiple processes regulated within the network (Chen et al., 2018). If rejection sensitivity results from an underlying vulnerability

within regions associated with EF or within the inhibition network, high RS individuals would be expected to perform more poorly on executive function measures compared to lower RS peers regardless of emotional valence.

More likely, the mechanism underlying this relationship is more complicated, and may differ on an individual basis. The same study which found reduced regional gray matter volume in high RS individuals found a relationship to increased inferior temporal gyrus volume, a possible mechanism for interference which arises outside of EF systems. The ITG is involved in occipito-temporal circuits which are sensitive to human faces and are heavily influential in social interactions. Heightened ITG activation has been observed in response to social exclusion (Bolling et al., 2011). It is also difficult to discern temporal precedence of neurological differences. These differences in function may exist prior to the development of high RS, but they also might occur as a result.

Individuals with high RS show lower performance on assessments of emotional regulation than those with lower RS (Velotti, 2015; Wu et al., 2022). As previously mentioned, rejection sensitivity is associated with outcome measures in a variety of pathopsychological conditions (Gardner et al., 2020; Harb et al., 2002; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2021). Executive function performance has been similarly seen to vary across different conditions. A common network has been identified across neuroimaging studies as involved in the ability to adapt to processing demands. This frontal-cingulate-parietal-insular network may be representative of the functional capacity limit of cognitive control (i.e., inhibition) (McTeague et al., 2016; Snyder et al., 2015). Similar to high RS, dysfunction in EF systems is associated with poorer behavioral outcomes (Cox et al., 2019; Franklin et al., 2018; McTeague et al., 2016; Snyder et al., 2015). In addition to evidence of poor inhibition, there is some evidence that high RS may be associated

with lower performance on measures on Working Memory Updating. High RS individuals show a resistance to extinction of fear learning towards angry faces (Olsson et al., 2013). Further, social rejection is seen to impair inhibitory self-control (Lurquin et al., 2014). Given the increased effects of social rejection seen in high RS individuals, it is likely that these effects would be enhanced, causing an even greater decrease in EF following rejection.

Evidence from literature seems to support the notion that RS and EF are linked, likely through EF inhibition. Research may find broad EF dysfunction in individuals with high RS, in a similar manner to how it appears in functionally related conditions such as social anxiety. Conversely, the impairment may only be seen in emotional inhibition tasks. Measuring performance differences across both abstracted cognitive inhibition tasks and cognitive inhibition tasks which involve emotional interference may provide further clarity.

The Current Study

Evidence from the literature suggests that RS and higher order inhibition processes are linked through shared circuitry (Achterberg et al., 2020; Gyurak et al., 2012), though research examining this relationship outside of the context of social context is sparse. Neuroimaging research has identified considerable overlap in neural activation between cognitive and affective inhibition located in a region responsible for the recruitment of higher order processes in response to need (Hung et al., 2018) which has also been identified as involved RS research (Kross et al., 2007). Confirmation of an association between RS and broader inhibition circuitry may improve our understanding of this combined system and may help to explain how interpersonal sensitivity functions as a predictor of disease (Marin & Miller, 2013).

The current study utilized electrophysiological measures to examine the relationship between rejection sensitivity and the recruitment of higher-level inhibition in both emotional and

non-emotional contexts. Both rejection-specific and non-rejection specific emotional stimuli were used in order to further examine the relationship between rejection sensitivity and inhibitory processes. The Flanker task was used due to its utility in recruiting cognitive inhibition and its flexibility of use in terms of stimulus categorization. If those with higher levels of rejection sensitivity show less ability to recruit inhibition regardless of context this will support the involvement of broader inhibitory dysfunction with RS. If the relationship between high RS and inhibition recruitment only appears in the presence of emotional stimuli this would instead indicate that the two have a relationship limited to emotion specific inhibition processes. If this relationship only appears in the presence of rejection related stimuli this would indicate that it is highly context driven and may be better explained through some outside mediator. Once the nature of the relationship is clear further research may further examine involved processes which may lead to a greater understanding of how certain individuals come to experience heightened risk for certain negative health outcomes.

Chapter 2: Methods

Participants

64 participants were recruited via the University of South Florida Department of Psychology subject pool in return for course credit. Of these participants, six were excluded for poor ERP reliability (>80%) and one participant was excluded after failing survey attention checks. Participants were considered ineligible if they had vision loss which could not be corrected via prescription eyewear, traumatic brain injury within the last two years, or history of

Baseline		Average RS	High RS	Overall
Characteristic		(N=45)	(N=12)	(N=57)
Age	Mean (SD)	20.4 (3.2)	19.3 (1.8)	20.2 (3.0)
	Median (IQR)	19.0 (1.0)	18.5 (2.0)	19.0 (2.0)
	Range	18.0 - 31.0	18.0 - 24.0	18.0 - 31.0
Gender	Female	38 (84.44%)	9 (75.00%)	47 (82.46%)
	Male	7 (15.56%)	3 (25.00%)	10 (17.54%)
Ethnicity	Asian	7 (15.56%)	4 (33.33%)	11 (19.30%)
	Black or African	2 (4.44%)	0 (0.00%)	2 (3.51%)
	American			
	Latino	4 (8.89%)	2 (16.67%)	6 (10.53%)
	White	24 (53.33%)	5 (41.67%)	29 (50.88%)
	Other	1 (2.22%)	0 (0.00%)	1 (1.75%)
	Mixed (Various)	5 (11.10%)	1 (8.33%)	6 (10.50%)
	Missing	2 (4.44%)	0 (0.00%)	2 (3.51%)
Handedness	Both / Ambidextrous	1 (2.22%)	0 (0.00%)	1 (1.75%)
	Left Hand	4 (8.89%)	2 (16.67%)	6 (10.53%)
	Right hand	40 (88.89%)	10 (83.33%)	50 (87.72%)
Psychological	No	41 (91.11%)	9 (75.00%)	50 (87.72%)
Diagnoses		. ,		
	Yes	3 (6.67%)	3 (25.00%)	6 (10.53%)
	Missing	1 (2.22%)	0 (0.00%)	1 (1.75%)

 Table 1

 Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants

or active drug use. Presence of psychiatric condition was not considered a disqualifying factor due to evidence suggesting heightened RS may lead to the development of psychiatric illness (Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2021; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2016). A total of 57 subjects (47 female; Age: M = 20.2, SD = 3.0) were utilized for ERP analysis. Additional demographic information can be found in *Table 1*.

Measures

RSQ

The 18 question Rejection Sensitivity Questionnaire (RSQ) (Downey & Feldman, 1996) consists of theoretical social situations with a possibility of rejection which a college student may experience (i.e., "You ask someone in one of your classes to coffee"). While the classic RSQ only contains questions in regard to two dimensions (rejection expectation and rejection anxiety), this experiment used a modified version which included the separate dimension of rejection anger. Participants rate, on a Likert scale from 1 to 6, how strongly they expect a rejection (1 ("very unlikely") to 6 ("very likely")), how anxious they would be toward a rejection in this scenario(1 ("Very unconcerned") to 6 ("Very concerned")), and how angry they would be toward a rejection in this scenario (1 "not very angry" to 6 "very angry"). Traditional scoring creates a composite score by multiplying average scores from the expectation and anxiety dimensions. In addition to traditional scoring, separate dimensional scores will be calculated for each dimension (expectation, anger, anxiety) as per Richetin et al. Score distributions can be seen in *Table 2*.

Flanker

The Erikson Flanker Task is well validated for use examining inhibition in previous electrophysiology studies. Three Flanker tasks were presented, each individually consisting of three trial blocks with one of three stimulus types: neutral stimuli, affective stimuli (non-social),

Score Type		Average RS	High RS	Overall
		(N=45)	(N=12)	(N=57)
Global	Mean (SD)	7.3 (2.2)	12.8 (2.4)	8.5 (3.2)
	Median (IQR)	7.9 (2.8)	12.1 (3.0)	8.3 (3.3)
	Range	1.0 - 10.1	10.4 - 18.3	1.0 - 18.3
Expectation	Mean (SD)	2.4 (0.7)	2.9 (0.5)	2.5 (0.7)
	Median (IQR)	2.3 (0.7)	2.9 (0.5)	2.6 (0.9)
	Range	1.0 - 4.4	1.9 - 3.7	1.0 - 4.4
Anxiety	Mean (SD)	3.1 (0.7)	4.4 (0.5)	3.3 (0.9)
	Median (IQR)	3.2 (1.1)	4.3 (0.7)	3.4 (1.3)
	Range	1.0 - 4.4	3.6 - 5.3	1.0 - 5.3
Anger	Mean (SD)	2.7 (0.8)	2.7 (0.8)	2.7 (0.8)
	Median (IQR)	2.7 (0.9)	2.6 (0.9)	2.7 (0.9)
	Range	1.0 - 4.6	1.4 - 4.0	1.0 - 4.6

Table 2Rejection Sensitivity Score Distribution

and affective (social) stimuli. Blocks will hereafter be referred to as "Neutral", "Affect", and "Social" blocks. The Neutral block consisted of fractal images sourced from a normed dataset

(Ovalle-Fresa et al., 2022), with participants categorizing target images as containing "spiral" fractals or "circle" fractals. Affect (non-social) stimuli consisted of arousal matched positive and negative images sourced from the International Affective Pictures System (IAPS) (Lang, 2008), and rejection related affective stimuli on the Social block utilized smiling (or "happy") and contemptuous faces sourced from the Complex Emotional Expression Database (CEED)(Scherf & Benda, 2019). Each block uses five varieties of each category of image arranged in a cross section with one central target surrounded by four flankers which may or may not match, creating 100 possible combinations per block. Participants saw each flanker image a total of three times, for a total of 300 trials per Flanker block. Flanker trial blocks (of 100 trials) were labeled by number (1,2,3). Incongruent and congruent flankers were equiprobable, with each of four possible conditions appearing for 25% of trials. In both affective trial blocks (Affect and

Social) participants were asked to respond based on the target valence category (positive/negative, happy/contemptuous), for the non-affective block, Neutral, they were to respond based on shapes present in the fractal (circle/spiral). Responses were logged using a four key response pad ("1" or "4" depending on category), with mappings randomized by participant.

The tasks were coded using E-Prime 3.0 presentation software and presented on an LCD monitor set to 1920x1080 resolution. The monitor refresh rate was 60.04 Hz, and viewing distance was standardized to 60 cm. Following instructions and a 15-trial practice round participants had the opportunity to express continued difficulty with the task, in which case the trial was repeated. Each experimental trial began with the presentation of a black screen. Stimulus onset latency was jittered between 60-800 ms, and inter-trial interval between 1000 and 2000 ms, for total possible differences up to 1740 ms per trial. This was done to correct for effects of expectation. Flanker images displayed for 800 ms and terminated early upon participant response. All tasks were designed to utilize white text on black background in order to reduce eye strain.

SAM

Valence and arousal rating were collected for all affectively valanced stimuli. Participants filled out the Self-Assessment Manekin (SAM)(Bradley & Lang, 1994), a pictorial assessment used to collect valence and arousal ratings for affective images, for a subset of 12 algorithmically chosen affective images used in both the Affect and Social Flanker blocks. These ratings were used to confirm normative valence and arousal data provided by the original normed datasets.

Hypotheses

If individuals who are high in rejection sensitivity display deficits in the recruitment of inhibition, certain patterns in data will emerge. Individuals high in rejection sensitivity will show

reduced amplitude N2 to Incongruent trials across all three flanker blocks (social, affect, and neutral) when compared to those with normal levels of rejection sensitivity. These effects will be enhanced in trials where flanking stimuli are rejection related more so than in trials where stimuli are not rejection related, reflecting the attentional bias high RS individuals show towards rejection-related stimuli, further reducing N2 activity aimed at resolving response conflict. Individuals higher in RS should exhibit slower response times and reduced accuracy on incongruent trials compared to their peers, especially if those trials include rejection-related stimuli as flanking images.

Procedure

Participants signed up for the study through the USF SONA online participant pool. Upon arrival participants completed consent forms and confirmed the absence of any rule-out criteria. Participants filled out digitized surveys and completed Flanker tasks in counterbalanced order with the exception of image ratings, which always occurred last in order to avoid bias stemming from early exposure to experimental stimuli. Each Flanker block contained two breaks which could last up to 5 minutes. If participants were assigned to complete EEG tasks first, the net was then removed before survey administration.

EEG Acquisition

EEG data was acquired using 128-channel EGI sensor net (EGI, Eugene, Oregon, USA) with 500 Hz sampling and online high pass filtering at 70 Hz, low pass filtering at 0.01 Hz, and a 60 Hz notch filter. Data processing took place in EEGlab (Delorme & Makeig, 2004), based on guidelines proposed by Makoto Miyakoshi. Data was first down sampled to 250 Hz, high pass filtered with a 0.1 Hz 6th order Butterworth filter and re-referenced to average. Following this, artifact correction was conducting using the ASR CleanRawData plugin (Kothe et al., 2019), and

automated ICA decomposition and artifact rejection using ICLabel (Pion-Tonachini et al., 2019) followed by a low-pass 40hz 6th order Butterworth filter. Data was segmented from 200 ms before stimulus onset to 1000 ms after stimulus onset and baseline-correct to the 200ms pre-stimulus period.

N2 amplitude was calculated using time-window averaging across a fronto-central region of interest (Electrodes: 4, 9, 16, 19, 20, 22, 29, 111, 118) between 300ms and 400ms poststimulus, which was determined based on a combination of previous research (Huster et al., 2010; Kanske & Kotz, 2010) and visual inspection. Trial by trial data was extracted for analysis.

Statistical Analysis

Behavioral

Prior to analysis trials featuring responses that were missing, incorrect, or considered to be outliers (further than 3 SD from the individuals mean RT) were excluded. Response time analysis was conducted on individual trial data using hierarchical linear modeling with fixed effects of Congruency (Incongruent/Congruent), Rejection Sensitivity (Average/High), Block (Social, Affect, Neutral), and Condition (Neutral: Circle/Spiral; Social Affect: Happy/Contempt; Non-Social Affect: Positive/Negative), with random effect of Subject with slopes influenced by trial. Post hoc testing was conducted using Tukey HSD to correct for multiple comparison. Accuracy analyses utilized hierarchical logistic regression with fixed effects Congruency (Incongruent/Congruent), Rejection Sensitivity (Average/High), Block (Social, Affect, Neutral), and Condition (Neutral: Circle/Spiral; Social Affect: Happy/Contempt; Non-Social Affect: Positive/Negative), and random effects of subject.

ERP

Analyses were conducted using hierarchical mixed models predicting N2 amplitude with Rejection Sensitivity ranking (Average/High), Congruency (Incongruent/Congruent), Flanker Condition (Neutral: Circle/Spiral; Social Affect: Happy/Contempt; Non-Social Affect: Positive/Negative), Block (Social, Affect, Neutral), and Trial block ("Trial", 1 = First 100 trials, 2 = trial 101-200, 3 = last 100 trials) as fixed effects. Subject and trial number were included as random effects in order to account for individual variation and amplitude decay (Heise et al., 2022). Post hoc testing used paired t-tests with Tukey HSM correction for multiple comparisons.

Chapter 3: Results

Behavioral

Reaction Time

Analysis revealed a main effect of Congruency associated with reaction time,

 $F(1,48767.59) = 38.85, p < .0001, f^2 = 0.03$ (*Table 4*). As expected, responses to Congruent

Table 3

Repeated-Measures Multi Level Model ANOVA Results: Reaction Time

Source	SS	MS	Num df	Den df	F	р
С	256,461.12	256,461.12	1	27,674.08	23.46	<0.0001 ***
RS	5,412.96	5,412.96	1	57.09	0.50	0.48
F	30,533.83	30,533.83	1	27,678.89	2.79	0.09.
В	3,271,793.24	1,635,896.62	2	27,660.61	149.65	<0.0001 ***
C:RS	18,941.41	18,941.41	1	27,674.08	1.73	0.19
C:F	67,669.83	67,669.83	1	27,675.06	6.19	0.01 *
RS:F	100,636.30	100,636.30	1	27,678.89	9.21	0.002 **
C:B	76,808.43	38,404.22	2	27,672.81	3.51	0.03 *
RS:B	67,533.43	33,766.72	2	27,660.61	3.09	0.05 *
F:B	21,653.94	10,826.97	2	27,675.71	0.99	0.37
C:RS:F	10,657.92	10,657.92	1	27,675.06	0.97	0.32
C:RS:B	8,697.59	4,348.79	2	27,672.81	0.40	0.67
C:F:B	142,614.70	71,307.35	2	27,674.58	6.52	0.001 **
RS:F:B	21,937.68	10,968.84	2	27,675.71	1.00	0.37
C:RS:F:B	38,035.47	19,017.73	2	27,674.58	1.74	0.18

Note: C = Congruency Condition; F = Flanker Condition; RS = Rejection Sensitivity; B = Block; SS = sum of squares; Num df = Numerator degrees of freedom; Den df = Denominator degrees of freedom; MS = mean square;

Significance: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

trials (M = 586.1, SD = 113.05) were slightly faster than responses to Incongruent trials (M = 592.91, SD = 113.65), p < .0001.

There was a significant main effect of Block associated with reaction time, F(2,48767.68)= 315.23, p < .0001, $f^2 = 0.11$. Participant response was slowest when asked to identify the target emotion of faces in the Social block (M = 608.31, SD = 119.98), and quickest when asked to identify the presence of target shapes in the Neutral block (M = 575.68, SD = 111.02), all ps < .0001. Responses on Affect block (M = 584.52, SD = 106.82), where the task involved identifying target valance, were slightly slower than responses to the Neutral block, p < .0001.

There was a significant Congruency x Flanker interaction associated with change in Reaction Time, F(1,48768.17) = 44.7, p < .0001, $f^2 = 0.03$. It may be important to note that Flanker Type may be misleading to interpret alone due to the inclusion of Neutral Flanker conditions in categories otherwise selected due to affective valence. In the presence of Flanker condition A (Happy, Positive, Spiral), responses on Congruent trials (M = 581.95, SD = 113.07) are faster in comparison to Incongruent trials (M = 596.07, SD = 113.17), p < .0001. Conversely, Congruency effects are attenuated for group B Flankers (Contempt, Negative, Circle), with no reaction time difference between Congruent and Incongruent trials, p = .1.

There was a significant Rejection Sensitivity x Flanker interaction associated with change in Reaction Time, F(1,48767.62) = 6.22, $p \ 0.01$, $f^2 = 0.01$. For those with Average RS levels, their reaction speed did not differ based on Flanker group, p = 0.1. Those with High RS were slightly faster when responding to trials with group A Flankers (Happy, Positive, Spiral) (M =586.62, SD = 116.15) compared to group B (Contempt, Negative, Circle) (M = 590.34, SD =118.49), p = 0.05. There was a significant Block x Congruency interaction associated with change in Reaction Time, F(2,48767.41) = 10.63, p < .0001, $f^2 = 0.02$. Congruency effects were present for only two of the three blocks. Participants responded faster in Congruent conditions during both Neutral (*Congruent M* = 573.11, *SD* = 111.02; *Incongruent M* = 578.26, *SD* = 110.96; p =0.01) and Affect (*Congruent M* = 577.69, *SD* = 105.2; *Incongruent M* = 591.35, *SD* = 108.1; p <0.001) Blocks. There was no reaction time difference based on Congruency during the Social block (p = 0.4).

There was a significant Rejection Sensitivity x Block interaction associated with Reaction Time, F(2,48767.68) = 10.53, p < .0001, $f^2 = 0.02$. Those with Average RS were slowest on the Social block (M = 608.69, SD = 117.93) compared to both Affect (M = 582.85, SD = 105.82) and Neutral (M = 580.02, SD = 110.39) blocks, but displayed no reaction time difference between Affect and Neutral blocks (p = 0.07). Those in the High RS group similarly showed slower reaction times during the Social block (M = 607.92, SD = 126.49) compared to both Affect (M = 586.18, SD = 109.99) and Neutral (M = 571.34, SD = 112.86), all ps < .0001. In addition, they displayed slower reaction times on the Affect block compared to the Neutral block ($\beta = 14.84$, p < .001).

There was a significant three-way Congruency x Block x Flanker interaction associated with Reaction Time, F(2,48768.17) = 23.03, p < .0001, $f^2 = 0.03$. During the Social block reaction time was faster for Congruent trials (M = 598.61, SD = 125.21) compared to Incongruent trials (M = 617.07, SD = 115.93) only for those trials where the Flanker was a Happy face, p < .0001. When the Flanker condition showed a contemptuous face, reaction time was faster for Incongruent trials (M = 601.16, SD = 123.24) compared to Congruent trials (M = 616.38, SD = 113.97), p < .0001. There was a similar effect seen based on Flanker in the Neutral block. Reaction time was faster for Congruent trials (M = 568.56, SD = 105.81) compared to Incongruent trials (M = 580.16, SD = 117.17) only for trials where the Flanker showed a Spiral, p < .0001. When the Flanker condition showed a Circle there was no significant difference in reaction time between Congruent and Incongruent trials (p = 0.62). Congruency effects were typical in the Affect block with no difference based on Flanker condition, with faster reaction times on Congruent trials (*Positive* M = 578.68, SD = 105.83; *Negative* M = 576.69, SD =104.56) compared to Incongruent trials (*Positive* M = 590.97, SD = 103.17; *Negative* M =591.72, SD = 113.05), ps < .0001.

Accuracy

There was a significant main effect of Block associated with Accuracy, $\chi^2(2) = 55.83$, *p* < .0001. Participants were least accurate when tasked to correctly identify the emotion on target faces in the Social block (*M* = 0.93, *SD* = 0.28), with slightly higher accuracy on the Affect block (*M* = 0.94, *SD* = 0.26), and highest accuracy on the Neutral block (*M* = 0.95, *SD* = 0.22), *p*s < .0001.

There was a significant Congruency x Rejection Sensitivity interaction associated with Accuracy, $\chi^2(1) = 3.95$, p = 0.05. High RS individuals show a greater drop in Accuracy from Congruent (M = 0.94, SD = 0.94) to Incongruent (M = 0.93, SD = 0.93) trials ($\beta = 0.21$, p < .001) compared to Average RS individuals(*Congruent* M = 0.95, SD = 0.95; *Incongruent* M = 0.94, SD = 0.94; $\beta = 0.1$, p = 0.01)(*Figure 1*).

There was a significant Congruency x Block interaction associated with Accuracy, $\chi^2(2) = 22.4$, p = <.0001. Participants were more accurate in Congruent condition compared to Incongruent in both Affect (Congruent M = 0.95, SD = 0.24; Incongruent M = 0.93, SD = 0.28; p < .0001) and Neutral (Congruent M = 0.96, SD = 0.22; Incongruent M = 0.95, SD = 0.23; p = .001) blocks. This effect was reversed for the Social block, with participants showing greater accuracy for Incongruent trials (M = 0.93, SD = 0.27) compared to Congruent trials (M = 0.92, SD = 0.28; p = 0.01).

Table 4

Repeated-Measures Multi Level Model ANOVA Results: Accuracy

Source	Chi.sq	df	р
C	2.37	1	0.12
RS	1.69	1	0.19
F	0.79	1	0.37
В	37.16	2	< 0.0001 ***
C:RS	4.45	1	0.03 *
C:F	1.93	1	0.17
RS:F	1.34	1	0.25
C:B	14.49	2	0.0007 **
RS:B	14.24	2	0.0008 **
F:B	21.19	2	< 0.0001 ***
C:RS:F	1.83	1	0.18
C:RS:B	8.13	2	0.02 *
C:F:B	34.72	2	< 0.0001 ***
RS:F:B	3.76	2	0.15
C:RS:F:B	3.14	2	0.21

Note: C = Congruency Condition; F = Flanker Condition; RS = Rejection Sensitivity; B = Block; SS = sum of squares; Num df = Numerator degrees of freedom; Den df = Denominator degrees of freedom; MS = mean square;

Significance: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1



Figure 1 Accuracy: Rejection Sensitivity x Congruency Interaction

There was a significant Rejection Sensitivity x Block interaction associated with Accuracy, $\chi^2(2) = 10.93$, p = 0.0042. Those with Average RS were most accurate on Neutral block trials (M = 0.96, SD = 0.22), followed by Affect trials (M = 0.94, SD = 0.26), and the least accurate on Social trials (M = 0.93, SD = 0.27), ps < .01. Those with High RS were the least accurate on Social trials (M = 0.92, SD = .27, ps < .0001) in comparison to both Affect (M = 0.94, SD = 0.26) and Neutral (M = 0.95, SD = 0.24) blocks, but displayed no difference in accuracy between Neutral and Affect blocks (p = .29).

There was a significant three-way Congruency x Rejection Sensitivity x Block interaction associated with Accuracy, $\chi^2(2) = 9.87$, p = 0.0072. Average RS individuals showed no difference in Accuracy based on Congruency during the Social block (p = 0.25), while High RS individuals showed a reversal of the typical Congruency effect with higher accuracy on Incongruent trials(M = 0.93, SD = 0.28) compared to Congruent trials (M = 0.91, SD = 0.31; p <.05) On the Affect block High RS individuals showed a reduction in accuracy of 2.7% from Congruent trials ($\beta = 0.016$, p < .001). On the Neutral block, once again Congruency effects were attenuated for the Average RS group (p = 0.19), but not for the High RS group ($\beta = 0.018$, p < .001).

There was a significant three-way Congruency x Flanker x Block interaction associated with Accuracy, $\chi^2(2) = 85.11$, p = <.0001. There were no differences in Accuracy on the Social block regardless of Flanker type or Congruency (ps > .70). Participants had reduced Accuracy on Incongruent Neutral block trials with Spiral flankers (M = 0.94, SD = 0.24) compared to trials with Circle flankers (M = 0.95, SD = 0.22), p = 0.02. On the Affect block, Accuracy was higher on Incongruent trials with Positive Flankers (M = 0.94, SD = 0.24) compared to Incongruent trials with Negative Flankers (M = 0.91, SD = 0.31) p < .0001.

ERP

There was a significant main effect of Block on N2 amplitude, F(2,28534.27) = 128.01, p < .0001, f = 0.094. N2 amplitudes were greatest during the Affect block (M = -3.26, SD = 4.95) compared to both Social (M = -2.14, SD = 4.78; p < .0001) and Neutral (M = -2.24, SD = 4.58; p < .0001) blocks. There were no differences in amplitude between Social and Neutral blocks (p = 0.46)

There was a significant Block x Rejection Sensitivity interaction associated with N2 amplitude, F(2,28534.27) = 20.56, p < .0001, f = 0.038. For those individuals with Average RS, average N2 amplitude was smallest during the Neutral block (M = -2.29, SD = 4.64), followed by N2 amplitude during the Social block, (M = -2.69, SD = 4.86), and at its highest during the Affect block (M = -3.49, SD = 5.04), all ps < .0001. For High RS individuals these first two are reversed. Average N2 amplitude was at its smallest during the Social block (M = -1.6, SD =4.26), followed by Neutral (M = -2.19, SD = 4.38), and highest on Affect (M = -3.03, SD =4.56), all ps < .001.
Pairwise comparisons also identified some differences between RS groups. N2 amplitude for those with Average RS during the Affect block was higher than High RS participants during the Social block ($\beta = 1.88$, p = 0.007), and trended in this direction when compared against amplitudes for High RS Neutral ($\beta = 1.30$, p = 0.08).

There was a significant Block x Trial interaction associated with N2 amplitude, F(4,28920.7) = 4.9, p < .0001, f = 0.026. N2 attenuated over time during the Social block, with amplitude at its highest during early trials (M = -2.37, SD = 4.77) compared to late trials (M = -1.91, SD = 4.99),p = 0.01. During the Affect block, N2 amplitude fell from early trials (M = -3.34, SD = 4.96) to middle trials (M = -3.01, SD = 4.85), p = 0.04, but rose again for late trials (M = -3.43, SD = 5.09); p = 0.01)There were no amplitude differences across trials in the Neutral block.

There was a significant three-way Congruency x Rejection Sensitivity x Flanker interaction associated with N2 amplitude, F(1,29042.01) = 6.84, p = 0.01, f = 0.015. Average RS had had no significant difference in N2 amplitude based on Congruency (Congruent M = -2.74, SD = 4.82; Incongruent M = -2.86, SD = 4.77; p = 0.11) in the presence of group A flankers (Happy, Positive, Spiral). When group B Flankers (Contemptuous, Negative, Circle) were present, Average RS had greater N2 amplitude on Congruent trials (M = -2.96, SD = 4.93) compared to Incongruent (M = -2.72, SD = 4.97; p = 0.004). There were no N2 differences based on Flanker for High RS, $p_S > .20$.

1							
Source	SS	MS	Num df	Den df	F	р	x
C	0.05	0.05	1	29,043.37	0.00	0.96	0.00
RS	13.87	13.87	1	57.54	0.75	0.39	0.00
F	5.74	5.74	1	29,038.38	0.31	0.58	0.00
В	4,728.57	2,364.29	2	28,634.21	127.82	<.0001 ***	0.09
Т	81.99	41.00	2	225.63	2.22	0.11	0.01
C:RS	15.19	15.19	1	29,043.37	0.82	0.36	0.00
C:F	1.66	1.66	1	29,048.73	0.09	0.76	0.00
RS:F	0.13	0.13	1	29,038.38	0.01	0.93	0.00
C:B	92.72	46.36	2	29,032.23	2.51	0.08	0.01
RS:B	761.05	380.52	2	28,634.21	20.57	<.0001 ***	0.04
F:B	18.52	9.26	2	29,043.15	0.50	0.61	0.01
C:T	0.56	0.28	2	29,034.78	0.02	0.99	0.00
RS:T	34.49	17.24	2	225.63	0.93	0.4	0.01
F:T	46.21	23.11	2	29,034.20	1.25	0.29	0.01
B:T	359.85	89.96	4	28,916.69	4.86	<.0001 ***	0.03
C:RS:F	126.40	126.40	1	29,048.73	6.83	0.009 **	0.01
C:RS:B	77.67	38.84	2	29,032.23	2.10	0.12	0.01
C:F:B	23.03	11.52	2	29,021.33	0.62	0.54	0.01
RS:F:B	44.65	22.33	2	29,043.15	1.21	0.3	0.01
C:RS:T	24.39	12.19	2	29,034.78	0.66	0.52	0.01
C:F:T	8.87	4.43	2	29,055.35	0.24	0.79	0.00
RS:F:T	69.89	34.94	2	29,034.20	1.89	0.15	0.01
C:B:T	49.05	12.26	4	29,038.73	0.66	0.62	0.01
RS:B:T	195.81	48.95	4	28,916.69	2.65	0.03 *	0.02
F:B:T	50.62	12.66	4	29,025.51	0.68	0.6	0.01

Table 5Repeated-Measures Multi Level Model ANOVA Results: N2

Note: C = Congruency Condition; F = Flanker Condition; RS = Rejection Sensitivity; B = Block; SS = sum of squares; Num df = Numerator degrees of freedom; Den df = Denominator degrees of freedom; MS = mean square;

Significance: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

There was a significant three-way Rejection Sensitivity x Block x Trial interaction associated with N2 amplitude, F(4,28920.7) = 2.64, p = 0.03, f = 0.019. High RS individuals (M=-1.60, SD = 4.26) had lower N2 amplitudes than Average RS individuals (M = -3.11, SD = 4.84; p = .018) on the Social block, but only during early trials. N2 amplitude for Average RS individuals attenuated over time during the Social block. N2 amplitude was increased in early trials (M = -3.11, SD = 4.83) compared to middle trials (M = -2.54, SD = 4.71, p < .0001) and late trials (M = -2.4, SD = 5.08, p < .0001). There was no difference between middle and late trials, p = 0.5. During the Affect block, N2 amplitudes of those with High RS increased from early trials (M = -3.19, SD = 4.61) to late trials (M = -3.32, SD = 4.72, p = 0.03).

Chapter 4: Discussion

The current study sought to examine the relationship between Rejection Sensitivity and the recruitment of inhibition processes, as indexed by the N2, across several contexts. It was hypothesized that individuals who measured within the top 30% of RS scores would show a reduction in amplitude on incongruent trials when compared to those with lower RS scores, and that this effect would be apparent in flankers using affectively Neutral stimuli, affectively valanced but non-social stimuli, and affective social stimuli. It was additionally hypothesized that these effects would be heightened when Flankers contained negatively valanced affective imagery, most prominently if imagery was social. Analysis sought to clarify the exact nature and limitations of RS related inhibition differences.

Behavioral results were in the predicted direction: despite maintaining similar response speed to their peers, High RS individuals showed heightened congruency effects when it came to the accuracy of their responses regardless of affect or context. While those with Average RS scores were able to compensate for the presence of incongruent flankers, those with High RS had heightened error rates across all blocks compared to their peers. These effects were strongest when Flankers consisted of affective stimuli, especially when stimuli were negatively valanced. Those with Average RS appeared to be able to compensate for the impact of incongruency on their accuracy, displaying similar accuracy regardless of trial congruency. Highly rejection sensitive individuals were not.

High RS individuals had reduced accuracy towards congruent social trials, though the reason for this is unclear. Analysis was conducted to examine inhibition of distractor effects,

which have been proven separate from target enhancement effects (Nigbur et al., 2015). Smiling faces are typically shown to be much stronger attention draws (Wirth & Wentura, 2020). This effect did not appear for those with High RS, who instead showed enhanced difficulty when flankers were negatively valanced. This is in line with previous findings where individuals with depression fail to show a bias towards positive images as seen in non-depressed individuals (Atchley et al., 2012). It is possible that reduced performance on congruent Social trials seen in High RS may be related to their failure to display attentional bias towards smiling faces. Their heightened performance on Incongruent trials with negative targets may be reflective of this lack of attention towards happy faces, rather than being primarily due to bias towards negative stimuli creating a facilitative effect. This is in direct contrast to the average RS group, which displayed heightened accuracy and speed when happy faces were targets, and experienced special difficulty on Incongruent trials where happy faces were flankers, consistent with literature which identifies smiling faces as uniquely salient among various facial expressions (Wentura et al., 2024).

This lack of positive bias towards smiling faces offers another tempting explanation for the theoretical gap highlighted by longitudinal data- perhaps the development of RS may be more accurately measured with the inclusion of some measure of the number of accepting, or positive, experiences. The presence of rejection and the absence of acceptance (or positive social experiences) may not reflect the same variable in reverse, but instead may be two separate variables which each provide unique explanatory power to the development of social biases, or in fact, the failure to develop social biases. Additional research is required in order to ascertain these differences.

Differences rooted in RS were less extreme for affective images without social context (or rather, those which were not faces). This may not necessarily indicate that the effects of RS

are weaker in non-social affective context, but instead may stem from the fact that individuals did not show a strong bias towards positively valanced images, where they did for smiling faces. While there was still an enhanced effect of negative flankers on performance for those with higher RS levels, those with average RS had effects in the same direction. Negative images resulted in larger drops in accuracy regardless of RS group, and congruent trials with negative images resulted in higher levels of accuracy compared to incongruent. It appears that there is no bias towards positive images in either RS group, but instead a bias towards negative imagery which appears more strongly for those with higher levels of RS. It is possible this may be due to the nature of the images chosen- while images had similar arousal ratings, it is true that negative stimuli may sometimes be interpreted more strongly than positive (such as in the vast amount of literature comparing gains and losses, see (Gibbons et al., 2023)). It is possible that higher arousal positive images may be more equivalent in strength to similarly rated negative images.

Reaction time differences based on RS and flanker groupings showed that High RS individuals responded more quickly in the presence of Flankers grouped by positive valance. By the nature of this analysis, Spirals were arbitrarily included in this positive valance group regardless of their own neutral valance, while Circles were included in the negatively valanced groups. The significance of this effect may be as a result of the relative strength of the valance effects- positively valanced images and faces being less impactful distractors on individuals with High RS may simply carry this effect despite Spirals not falling into this pattern. However, it seems that there may be differences in the distractor effects of fractal images based on shape. Looking more closely at this interaction, overall results show Congruent trials of Flanker A (Positive and Spiral) appears to be faster, while when these flankers appear in incongruent trials the response is slower. In addition, accuracy on the Neutral block does not increase compared to

the Affect block for those with High RS, while it does for Average RS. There may be some form of interaction where High RS individuals respond differently based on Flanker shape compared to Average RS. The current analysis is suited to examine these effects more closely, due to the inclusion of all three blocks in a singular analysis. The Neutral block itself consisted of a completely novel flanker using images which have not previously been used in a similar design. While it is worth the use of similarly complex Neutral images in order to avoid latency differences in N2 component across blocks, it is difficult to draw conclusions without literature to fall back on. Further research looking at this Flanker more closely is warranted in order to further examine the existence of response differences, and to understand what stimulus characteristics may be driving them.

The N2 potential was used in order to measure the recruitment of higher-level inhibition. N2 findings primarily suggested that group differences in the ability to recruit inhibition may be limited to affective stimuli, most strongly in social context. Only during early trials of the Social block, or when comparing across blocks, was there evidence of N2 amplitude enhancement for those with Average RS in comparison to those with High RS. While directly comparing N2 amplitudes from the Affect block between High RS and Average RS did not yield significant results, means were trending in the correct direction. This lack of significance may stem from task difficulty- ceiling effects may have hidden group differences. Lack of statistical power may additionally stem from the range of RS scores in participants. Only the top 30% of participants were considered "high" in RS, those with scores above 10.4, leaving only 12 participants in this category. Further, the highest score in this range was 18.2, while the highest possible score on the RSQ is 36. Limitations in RS severity among the sample population, and limitations in sample size, may have limited the ability to identify statistical effects.

These results support that high RS difficulties in recruiting inhibition are more strongly limited to affective context, most strongly social context, but that high RS displays a globally reduced capability to contend with cognitive conflict that may stem from other inhibition processes. Rejection Sensitivity may be said to index differences in the ability to recruit higher level inhibition in affective context. This follows effects seen across literature, such as those showing that distress towards rejecting images correlates to reduced dACC activity in High RS individuals (Kross et al., 2007). However, not all performance differences mapped onto N2 differences. N2 differences were primarily apparent during Social and Affect blocks. This doesn't account for accuracy differences, which were visible across all three blocks. These differences may be due to attentional orienting processes instead, as some research has found promising results here. It is apparent that individuals higher in RS have reduced inhibition across both affective and non-affective context, but it is not apparent what process these differences may stem from. Additional analysis may be needed in order to identify the root of these differences. While they may not stem from the recruitment of inhibition itself, these additional differences in inhibition ability which appear in non-affective tasks may be important to the risk of developing heightened RS. Other research has found that delayed gratification in childhood is able to predict the development of Rection Sensitivity in adulthood (Ayduk et al., 2000). While there may be broad differences in inhibition across RS, it may be that these differences in selfregulation may be more apparent in childhood before less rejection sensitive children catch up to their peers developmentally, or it may be that other measures of self-regulation may be more able to identify the root process responsible for these differences in adults.

In summary, highly rejection sensitive individuals show a reduction in the ability to recruit higher level inhibition in affective contexts. They show a lack of positive bias towards

facial images, and heightened distractor effects when Flankers are negatively valanced. High RS individuals showed a reduction in accuracy compared to their peers regardless of block which appears not to stem from inhibition recruitment. Additional aspects of selective attention and inhibition may account for accuracy differences that were not captured by the N2. Results support that high RS difficulties in recruiting inhibition are more strongly limited to affective context, most strongly social context, but that high RS displays a globally reduced capability to contend with cognitive conflict that may stem from other inhibition processes. While they may not stem from the recruitment of inhibition itself, these additional differences in inhibition ability which appear in non-affective tasks may be important to the risk of developing heightened RS.

Limitations

There are several additional limitations to the use of this research design. While the flanker has undergone previous analysis to indicate whether it does measure what it purports to measure, it is impossible to ensure that it does not also recruit the use of other processes outside of inhibition. No task is a pure measure of a single cognitive process, and performance may not reflect a direct effect of the primary process of interest. In addition, effects may not be evident due to ceiling effects. Heightened task difficulty may be necessary to provoke effects. Further testing with heightened cognitive load may be necessary. This research cannot determine the source of any effects which are occurring. Due to limitations in subject pool, there may be underlying bias to scores. All participants are being drawn from a limited age range in a university subject pool. There may be age related, location related, or university culture related effects on the measures in question.

The ability to detect differences in performance may have been limited by a ceiling effect. The flanker task used was basic and did not alter presentation speed based on participant

response. Flanker tasks may not be able to replicate differences in performance that may exist in a non-experimental setting due to relative ease. Heightening task difficulty may be necessary in order to identify differences in inhibition ability.

Finally, there is some ongoing debate on the useability of interference tasks to measure executive function. Self-report measures of inhibition are largely uncorrelated to performance measures of inhibition, such as the Stroop and Flanker (Eisenberg et al., 2019; Paap et al.). Paap and colleagues suggest that these tasks may not be representative of latent inhibition but may be specific to the exact task being measured. Others still continue to advocate for the use of EF performance measures- Malagoli and colleagues (2021) found that reaction time and accuracy measures on tasks including the flanker map on to a latent inhibition construct and correlate to other performance measures of inhibition (Malagoli et al., 2022). In this regard the results of this study may be used as indication of potential differences in inhibition, but further research utilizing other measurement tools such as self-report are necessary to expand on the nature of any functional differences.

References

Achterberg, M., van Duijvenvoorde, A. C. K., van, I. M. H., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., & Crone, E. A. (2020). Longitudinal changes in DLPFC activation during childhood are related to decreased aggression following social rejection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *117*(15), 8602-8610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1915124117</u>

Allan, N. P., & Lonigan, C. J. (2014). Exploring dimensionality of effortful control using hot and cool tasks in a sample of preschool children. *J Exp Child Psychol*, *122*, 33-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2013.11.013</u>

Araiza, A. M., Freitas, A. L., & Klein, D. N. (2020). Social-Experience and Temperamental Predictors of Rejection Sensitivity: A Prospective Study. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *11*(6), 733-742. <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 194855061987842210.1177/1948550619878422

Atchley, R. A., Ilardi, S. S., Young, K. M., Stroupe, N. N., O'Hare, A. J., Bistricky, S. L., Collison, E., Gibson, L., Schuster, J., & Lepping, R. J. (2012). Depression reduces perceptual sensitivity for positive words and pictures. *Cogn Emot*, *26*(8), 1359-1370. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2012.660134

Ayduk, O., Mendoza-Denton, R., Mischel, W., Downey, G., Peake, P. K., & Rodriguez, M. (2000). Regulating the interpersonal self: strategic self-regulation for coping with rejection sensitivity. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, *79*(5), 776-792. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.79.5.776</u>

Ayduk, O., Zayas, V., Downey, G., Cole, A. B., Shoda, Y., & Mischel, W. (2008). Rejection Sensitivity and Executive Control: Joint predictors of Borderline Personality features. *J Res Pers*, 42(1), 151-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2007.04.002</u>

Banich, M. T., Milham, M. P., Jacobson, B. L., Webb, A., Wszalek, T., Cohen, N. J., & Kramer, A. F. (2001). Chapter 29 Attentional selection and the processing of task-irrelevant information: insights from fMRI examinations of the Stroop task. In *Vision: From Neurons to Cognition* (Vol. 134, pp. 459-470). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0079-6123(01)34030-x</u>

Bolling, D. Z., Pitskel, N. B., Deen, B., Crowley, M. J., Mayes, L. C., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2011). Development of neural systems for processing social exclusion from childhood to adolescence [https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01087.x]. *Dev Sci*, *14*(6), 1431-1444. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01087.x

Bradley, M. M., & Lang, P. J. (1994). Measuring emotion: the Self-Assessment Manikin and the Semantic Differential. *J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry*, 25(1), 49-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7916(94)90063-9

Casini, E., Glemser, C., Premoli, M., Preti, E., & Richetin, J. (2022). The mediating role of emotion regulation strategies on the association between rejection sensitivity, aggression, withdrawal, and prosociality. *Emotion*, 22(7), 1505-1516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000908</u>

Chen, T., Becker, B., Camilleri, J., Wang, L., Yu, S., Eickhoff, S. B., & Feng, C. (2018). A domain-general brain network underlying emotional and cognitive interference processing: evidence from coordinate-based and functional connectivity meta-analyses. *Brain Struct Funct*, *223*(8), 3813-3840. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-018-1727-9</u>

Cox, R. C., Jessup, S. C., & Olatunji, B. O. (2019). Executive Dysfunction and Emotion Dysregulation Explain the Effects of Insomnia Symptoms on Repetitive Negative Thinking. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *43*(6), 995-1004. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-019-10033-y

Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. *Annu Rev Psychol*, 64(1), 135-168. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750

Donchin, E., & Coles, M. G. H. (2010). Is the P300 component a manifestation of context updating? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *11*(03), 357-427. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0140525x00058027

Downey, G., & Feldman, S. I. (1996). Implications of rejection sensitivity for intimate relationships. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, 70(6), 1327-1343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-</u>3514.70.6.1327

Ehrlich, K. B., Gerson, S. A., Vanderwert, R. E., Cannon, E. N., & Fox, N. A. (2015). Hypervigilance to Rejecting Stimuli in Rejection Sensitive Individuals: Behavioral and Neurocognitive Evidence. *Pers Individ Dif*, *85*, 7-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.04.023</u>

Eisenberg, I. W., Bissett, P. G., Zeynep Enkavi, A., Li, J., MacKinnon, D. P., Marsch, L. A., & Poldrack, R. A. (2019). Uncovering the structure of self-regulation through data-driven ontology discovery. *Nat Commun*, *10*(1), 2319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-10301-1</u>

Engle, R. W. (2002). Working memory capacity as executive attention. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 11(1), 19-23. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1111/1467-8721.00160

Engle, R. W., & Kane, M. J. (2003). Executive Attention, Working Memory Capacity, and a Two-Factor Theory of Cognitive Control. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, *44*, 145-199.

Eriksen, B. A., & Eriksen, C. W. (1974). Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. *Perception & Psychophysics*, *16*(1), 143-149. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03203267

Franklin, P., Tsujimoto, K. C., Lewis, M. E., Tekok-Kilic, A., & Frijters, J. C. (2018). Sex differences in self-regulatory executive functions are amplified by trait anxiety: The case of students at risk for academic failure. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *129*, 131-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.03.019</u>

Friedman, N. P., & Miyake, A. (2004). The relations among inhibition and interference control functions: a latent-variable analysis. *J Exp Psychol Gen*, *133*(1), 101-135. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.133.1.101

Gardner, A. A., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Modecki, K. (2020). A longitudinal model of rejection sensitivity and internalizing symptoms: Testing emotion regulation deficits as a mechanism and outcome of symptoms. *J Pers*, *88*(6), 1045-1057. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12549

Godleski, S. A., Eiden, R. D., Kachadourian, L., & Lucke, J. F. (2019). Etiological Pathways to Rejection Sensitivity in a High-Risk Sample. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull*, 45(5), 715-727. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167218795486

Goodman, J., Fertuck, E., Chesin, M., Lichenstein, S., & Stanley, B. (2014). The Moderating Role of Rejection Sensitivity in the Relationship Between Emotional Maltreatment and Borderline Symptoms. *Pers Individ Dif*, *71*, 146-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.07.038

Groom, M. J., & Cragg, L. (2015). Differential modulation of the N2 and P3 eventrelated potentials by response conflict and inhibition. *Brain Cogn*, *97*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2015.04.004 Gyurak, A., Goodkind, M. S., Kramer, J. H., Miller, B. L., & Levenson, R. W. (2012). Executive functions and the down-regulation and up-regulation of emotion. *Cogn Emot*, *26*(1), 103-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2011.557291</u>

Harb, G. C., Heimberg, R. G., Fresco, D. M., Schneier, F. R., & Liebowitz, M. R. (2002). The psychometric properties of the Interpersonal Sensitivity Measure in social anxiety disorder. *Behav Res Ther*, *40*(8), 961-979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7967(01)00125-5</u>

Heise, M. J., Mon, S. K., & Bowman, L. C. (2022). Utility of linear mixed effects models for event-related potential research with infants and children. *Dev Cogn Neurosci*, 54, 101070.

Hofmann, W., Gschwendner, T., Friese, M., Wiers, R. W., & Schmitt, M. (2008). Working memory capacity and self-regulatory behavior: toward an individual differences perspective on behavior determination by automatic versus controlled processes. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, 95(4), 962-977. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012705</u>

Hung, Y., Gaillard, S. L., Yarmak, P., & Arsalidou, M. (2018). Dissociations of cognitive inhibition, response inhibition, and emotional interference: Voxelwise ALE meta-analyses of fMRI studies. *Hum Brain Mapp*, *39*(10), 4065-4082. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.24232</u>

Huster, R. J., Westerhausen, R., Pantev, C., & Konrad, C. (2010). The role of the cingulate cortex as neural generator of the N200 and P300 in a tactile response inhibition task [https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20933]. *Hum Brain Mapp*, *31*(8), 1260-1271. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20933

Jing Wen, T., Kim, E., Wu, L., & Dodoo, N. A. (2019). Activating persuasion knowledge in native advertising: the influence of cognitive load and disclosure language. *International Journal of Advertising*, *39*(1), 74-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2019.1585649</u>

Kanske, P., & Kotz, S. A. (2010). Modulation of early conflict processing: N200 responses to emotional words in a flanker task. *Neuropsychologia*, *48*(12), 3661-3664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.07.021

Kawamoto, T., Nittono, H., & Ura, M. (2015). Trait rejection sensitivity is associated with vigilance and defensive response rather than detection of social rejection cues [Original Research]. *Front Psychol*, *6*(1516), 1516. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01516</u>

Klawohn, J., Bruchnak, A., Burani, K., Meyer, A., Lazarov, A., Bar-Haim, Y., & Hajcak, G. (2020). Aberrant attentional bias to sad faces in depression and the role of stressful life events: Evidence from an eye-tracking paradigm. *Behav Res Ther*, *135*, 103762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2020.103762</u>

Konig, N., Steber, S., Borowski, A., Bliem, H. R., & Rossi, S. (2021). Neural Processing of Cognitive Control in an Emotionally Neutral Context in Anxiety Patients. *Brain Sci*, 11(5), 543. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11050543</u>

Kross, E., Egner, T., Ochsner, K., Hirsch, J., & Downey, G. (2007). Neural dynamics of rejection sensitivity. *J Cogn Neurosci*, *19*(6), 945-956. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2007.19.6.945

Krug, M. K., & Carter, C. S. (2010). Anterior Cingulate Cortex Contributions to Cognitive and Emotional Processing: A General Purpose Mechanism for Cognitive Control and Self-Control. In *Self Control in Society, Mind, and Brain* (pp. 3-26). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195391381.003.0001

Lang, P. J., Bradley, M.M., & Cuthbert, B.N. (2008). International affective picture system (IAPS): Affective ratings of pictures and instruction manual. Technical Report A-8. *University of Florida, Gainesville, FL*.

Lantrip, C., Isquith, P. K., Koven, N. S., Welsh, K., & Roth, R. M. (2016). Executive Function and Emotion Regulation Strategy Use in Adolescents. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*, 5(1), 50-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21622965.2014.960567</u>

Lehto, J. E., Juujarvi, P., Kooistra, L., & Pulkkinen, L. (2003). Dimensions of executive functioning: Evidence from children [https://doi.org/10.1348/026151003321164627]. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 21(1), 59-80. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1348/026151003321164627

Levy, S., Ayduk, O., & Downey, G. (2001). *The Role of Rejection Sensitivity in People's Relationships with Significant Others and Valued Social Groups*. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195130157.003.0010

Lurquin, J. H., McFadden, S. L., & Harbke, C. R. (2014). An electrophysiological investigation of the effects of social rejection on self control. *J Soc Psychol*, *154*(3), 186-197. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2014.881768

Malagoli, C., Chiorri, C., Traverso, L., & Usai, M. C. (2022). Inhibition and individual differences in behavior and emotional regulation in adolescence. *Psychol Res*, *86*(4), 1132-1144. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-021-01565-8

Marin, T. J., & Miller, G. E. (2013). The interpersonally sensitive disposition and health: an integrative review. *Psychol Bull*, *139*(5), 941-984. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030800</u>

McTeague, L. M., Goodkind, M. S., & Etkin, A. (2016). Transdiagnostic impairment of cognitive control in mental illness. *J Psychiatr Res*, *83*, 37-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.08.001

Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "Frontal Lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis. *Cogn Psychol*, *41*(1), 49-100. https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0734

Nee, D. E., Jonides, J., & Berman, M. G. (2007). Neural mechanisms of proactive interference-resolution. *Neuroimage*, *38*(4), 740-751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.07.066

Olsson, A., Carmona, S., Downey, G., Bolger, N., & Ochsner, K. N. (2013). Learning biases underlying individual differences in sensitivity to social rejection. *Emotion*, 13(4), 616-621. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033150

Ovalle-Fresa, R., Di Pietro, S. V., Reber, T. P., Balbi, E., & Rothen, N. (2022). Standardized database of 400 complex abstract fractals. *Behav Res Methods*, 54(5), 2302-2317. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-021-01726-y

Paap, K. R., Anders-Jefferson, R., Zimiga, B., Mason, L., & Mikulinsky, R. (2020). Interference scores have inadequate concurrent and convergent validity: Should we stop using the flanker, Simon, and spatial Stroop tasks? *Cogn Res Princ Implic*, *5*(1), 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41235-020-0207-y</u>

Pearson, K. A., Watkins, E. R., & Mullan, E. G. (2011). Rejection sensitivity prospectively predicts increased rumination. *Behav Res Ther*, 49(10), 597-605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2011.06.004</u>

Pion-Tonachini, L., Kreutz-Delgado, K., & Makeig, S. (2019). ICLabel: An automated electroencephalographic independent component classifier, dataset, and website. *Neuroimage*, *198*, 181-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.05.026</u>

Preti, E., Casini, E., Richetin, J., De Panfilis, C., & Fontana, A. (2020). Cognitive and Emotional Components of Rejection Sensitivity: Independent Contributions to Adolescent Selfand Interpersonal Functioning. *Assessment*, 27(6), 1230-1241. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191118817866

Richetin, J., Poggi, A., Ricciardelli, P., Fertuck, E. A., & Preti, E. (2018). The Emotional Components of Rejection Sensitivity as a Mediator between Borderline Personality Disorder and Biased Appraisal of Trust in Faces. *Clinical Neuropsychiatry*, *15*(4), 200-205. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000440201300002

Salas, C. E., Radovic, D., Yuen, K. S., Yeates, G. N., Castro, O., & Turnbull, O. H. (2014). "Opening an emotional dimension in me": changes in emotional reactivity and emotion regulation in a case of executive impairment after left fronto-parietal damage. *Bull Menninger Clin*, *78*(4), 301-334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/bumc.2014.78.4.301</u>

Scherf, K. S., & Benda, M. S. (2019). *The Complex Emotion Expression Database: A Validated Stimulus Set of Trained Actors* Databrary. <u>https://doi.org/10.17910/B7.874</u>

Siregar, N. R. (2021). Explicit Instruction and Executive Functioning Capacity: A New Direction in Cognitive Load Theory. *Journal of Education-Us*, 002205742110332. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220574211033256

Snyder, H. R., Miyake, A., & Hankin, B. L. (2015). Advancing understanding of executive function impairments and psychopathology: bridging the gap between clinical and cognitive approaches. *Front Psychol*, *6*, 328. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00328</u>

Sperduti, M., Makowski, D., Arcangeli, M., Wantzen, P., Zalla, T., Lemaire, S., Dokic, J., Pelletier, J., & Piolino, P. (2017). The distinctive role of executive functions in implicit emotion regulation. *Acta Psychol (Amst)*, *173*, 13-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2016.12.001

Sun, J., Li, H., Li, W., Wei, D., Hitchman, G., Zhang, Q., & Qiu, J. (2014). Regional gray matter volume is associated with rejection sensitivity: a voxel-based morphometry study. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci*, *14*(3), 1077-1085. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13415-014-0249-z</u>

Teuber, H. L. (1972). Unity and diversity of frontal lobe functions. *Acta Neurobiol Exp* (*Wars*), 32(2), 615-656. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4627626</u>

van't Veer, A. E., Stel, M., & van Beest, I. (2014). Limited capacity to lie: Cognitive load interferes with being dishonest. *Judgment and Decision Making*, 9(3), 199-206. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2014-22240-003&site=ehost-live</u> A.vtveer@tilburguniversity.edu

Velotti, P. (2015). Emotion Dysregulation Mediates the Relation between Mindfulness and Rejection Sensitivity. In C. Garofalo & F. Bizzi (Eds.), (Vol. 27, pp. 259-272): Psychiatria Danubina.

Velotti, P., Garofalo, C., & Bizzi, F. (2015). Emotion Dysregulation Mediates the Relation between Mindfulness and Rejection Sensitivity. *Psychiatria Danubina*, *27*(3), 259-272. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000367586300007

Wang, H., Braun, C., & Enck, P. (2017). How the brain reacts to social stress (exclusion) - A scoping review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, *80*, 80-88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.012

Wang, L., Liu, X., Guise, K. G., Knight, R. T., Ghajar, J., & Fan, J. (2010). Effective connectivity of the fronto-parietal network during attentional control. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 22(3),

543-553. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21210

Wentura, D., Messeh, L., & Wirth, B. E. (2024). Attentional bias towards happy faces in the dot-probe paradigm: it depends on which task is used. *Cognition and Emotion*, *38*(2), 217-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2023.2283014</u>

White, B. A., & Kistner, J. A. (2011). Biased self-perceptions, peer rejection, and aggression in children. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, 39(5), 645-656. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-011-9506-6</u>

Wirth, B. E., & Wentura, D. (2020). It occurs after all: Attentional bias towards happy faces in the dot-probe task. *Atten Percept Psychophys*, *82*(5), 2463-2481. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-020-02017-y

Wu, Q. Q., Ran, G. M., & Zhang, Q. (2022). Rejection sensitivity and trait anxiety: The indirect effects of regulatory emotional self-efficacy and shyness. *Current Psychology*, *41*(8), 5481-5490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-01070-y</u>

Yu, Y., Jiang, C., Xu, H., Yang, Q., Li, J., Xu, Y., Xiang, W., Peng, L., Liu, B., Lv, F., & Li, M. (2018). Impaired Cognitive Control of Emotional Conflict in Trait Anxiety: A Preliminary Study Based on Clinical and Non-Clinical Individuals [Original Research]. *Front Psychiatry*, *9*(120), 120. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00120</u>

Zelazo, P., & Cunningham, W. (2007). Executive Function: Mechanisms Underlying Emotion Regulation. *Handbook of Emotion Regulation*.

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2015). Emotional sensitivity before and after coping with rejection: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *41*, 28-37. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2015.05.001</u>

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Gardner, A. A., Hawes, T., Masters, M. R., Waters, A. M., & Farrell, L. J. (2021). Rejection sensitivity and the development of social anxiety symptoms during adolescence: A five-year longitudinal study. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *45*(3), 204-215. <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 016502542199592110.1177/0165025421995921

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Nesdale, D. (2013). Anxious and angry rejection sensitivity, social withdrawal, and retribution in high and low ambiguous situations

[https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2012.00792.x]. J Pers, 81(1), 29-38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2012.00792.x

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Nesdale, D., McGregor, L., Mastro, S., Goodwin, B., & Downey, G. (2013). Comparing reports of peer rejection: associations with rejection sensitivity, victimization, aggression, and friendship. *J Adolesc*, *36*(6), 1237-1246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.10.002

Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., Nesdale, D., Webb, H. J., Khatibi, M., & Downey, G. (2016). A Longitudinal Rejection Sensitivity Model of Depression and Aggression: Unique Roles of Anxiety, Anger, Blame, Withdrawal and Retribution. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, 44(7), 1291-1307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-016-0127-y</u>

Zysset, S., Muller, K., Lohmann, G., & von Cramon, D. Y. (2001). Color-word matching stroop task: separating interference and response conflict. *Neuroimage*, *13*(1), 29-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2000.0665</u>

Appendix I: Supplemental Tables

592.91

	T	ab	le	A1
--	---	----	----	----

Reaction Time: Estimated Marginal Means of Congruency					
Congruency	Estimate	SD			
Congruent	586.10	113.05			

Incongruent

Table A2

Reaction Time: Paired T-tests of Congruency						
Term	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р	
Congruency	Cong. – Incong.	-6.81	1.09	-6.23	< 0.0001 ***	
N T 1 LICD	1.	1. 1	•			

Note: Tukey HSD used to correct for multiple comparisons Significance: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

113.65

Reaction Time: Estimated Mar	ginal Means of Block	
Block	Estimate	SD
Social	608.31	119.98
Affect	584.52	106.82
Neutral	575.68	111.02

 Table A3
 Reaction Time: Estimated Marginal Means of Block

Reaction Time: Paired T-tests of Block

Term	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Block	Social - Affect	23.79	1.35	17.68	0.001 ***
Block	Social - Neutral	32.62	1.34	24.35	0.001 ***
Block	Affect - Neutral	8.83	1.33	6.64	0.001 ***

. 0	~ 0		
Congruency	Flanker	Estimate	SD
Congruent	A (Happy,Pos,Spiral)	581.95	113.07
Incongruent	A (Happy,Pos,Spiral)	596.07	113.17
Congruent	B (Contempt, Neg, Circle)	590.24	112.97
Incongruent	B (Contempt, Neg, Circle)	589.75	114.04

Reaction Time: Congruency x Flanker Estimated Marginal Means

Table A6

Reaction Time: Congruency x Flanker Pairwise Comparisons

Flanker	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
A (Happy,Pos,Spiral)	Cong Incong.	-14.12	1.55	-9.13	0.001 ***
B (Contempt,Neg,Circle)	Cong Incong.	0.49	1.54	0.32	0.75

Rejection Sensitivity	Flanker	Estimate	SD			
Average RS	A (Happy,Pos,Spiral)	591.39	112.38			
High RS	A (Happy,Pos,Spiral)	586.62	116.15			
Average RS	B (Contempt, Neg, Circle)	589.65	111.92			
High RS	B (Contempt, Neg, Circle)	590.34	118.49			

Reaction Time: Rejection Sensitivity x Flanker Estimated Marginal Means

Table A8

Reaction Time: Rejection Sensitivity x Flanker Pairwise Comparison

			1		
Rejection Sensitivity	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Average RS	A - B	1.74	1.06	1.64	0.10
High RS	A - B	-3.71	1.91	-1.94	0.05 *
	0 1 1				

Note: Tukey HSD used to correct for multiple comparisons;

A = Happy, Positive, or Spiral Flankers; B = Contempt, Negative, or Circle Flankers. Significance: 0 **** 0.001 *** 0.01 ** 0.05 *. 0.1 * 1

<i>Reaction Time: Congruency x Block Estimated Marginal</i>	Means
---	-------

Block	Congruency	Estimate	SD
Social	Congruent	607.49	119.99
Social	Incongruent	609.12	119.97
Affect	Congruent	577.69	105.20
Affect	Incongruent	591.35	108.10
Neutral	Congruent	573.11	111.02
Neutral	Incongruent	578.26	110.96

Table A10

Reaction Time: Congruency x Block Post Hoc Comparisons

Block	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Social	Cong. – Incong.	-1.62	1.92	-0.85	0.40
Affect	Cong. – Incong.	-13.66	1.89	-7.23	0.001 **
Neutral	Cong. – Incong.	-5.15	1.87	-2.75	0.01 *

Rejection Sensitivity	Block	Estimate	SD
Average RS	Social	608.69	117.93
High RS	Social	607.92	126.49
Average RS	Affect	582.85	105.82
High RS	Affect	586.18	109.99
Average RS	Neutral	580.02	110.39
High RS	Neutral	571.34	112.86

Reaction Time: RS x Block Estimated Marginal Means

Table A12

Reaction Time: RS x Block Pairwise Comparison

Rejection Sensitivity	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Average	Social - Affect	25.84	1.30	19.84	0.0001 ***
Average	Social - Neutral	28.67	1.29	22.15	0.0001 ***
Average	Affect - Neutral	2.83	1.29	2.19	0.07
High	Social - Affect	21.74	2.35	9.23	0.0001 ***
High	Social - Neutral	36.58	2.35	15.59	0.0001 ***
High	Affect - Neutral	14.84	2.33	6.38	0.0001 ***

Block Flanker Congruency Estimate SD Social 598.61 Happy Congruent 125.21 Social Happy Incongruent 617.07 115.93 Social Congruent Contempt 616.38 113.97 Social Contempt Incongruent 601.16 123.24 Positive Affect Congruent 578.68 105.83 Affect Positive Incongruent 590.97 103.17 Affect Negative Congruent 576.69 104.56 Negative Affect Incongruent 113.05 591.72 Neutral Spiral Congruent 568.56 105.81 Neutral Spiral Incongruent 580.16 117.17 Circle Neutral Congruent 577.65 115.97 Incongruent Neutral Circle 576.36 104.42

Table A13

Reaction Time: Block x Flanker x Congruency Estimated Marginal Means

Table A14

Reaction Time: Block x Flanker x Congruency Pairwise Comparisons

Block	Flanker	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Social	Нарру	Cong. – Incong.	-18.47	2.71	-6.81	0.0001 ***
Social	Contempt	Cong. – Incong.	15.22	2.71	5.62	0.0001 ***
Affect	Positive	Cong. – Incong.	-12.29	2.67	-4.61	0.0001 ***
Affect	Negative	Cong. – Incong.	-15.03	2.68	-5.61	0.0001 ***
Neutral	Spiral	Cong. – Incong.	-11.60	2.65	-4.37	0.0001 ***
Neutral	Circle	Cong. – Incong.	1.29	2.64	0.49	0.62

neeus aey. Estimatea mai Sinai means of Broch						
Block	Estimate	SD				
Social	0.93	0.28				
Affect	0.94	0.26				
Neutral	0.95	0.22				

Accuracy: Estimated Marginal Means of Block

Table A16

Accuracy: Paired T-tests of Block					
Term	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Block	Social - Affect	-0.25	0.05	-5.17	0.0001 ***
Block	Social - Neutral	-0.49	0.05	-9.97	0.0001 ***
Block	Affect - Neutral	-0.25	0.05	-4.72	0.0001 ***

Rejection Sensitivity	Congruency	Estimate	SD
Average RS	Congruent	0.95	0.24
Average RS	Incongruent	0.94	0.25
High RS	Congruent	0.94	0.26
High RS	Incongruent	0.93	0.28

Accuracy: RS x Congruency Estimated Marginal Means

Table A18

Accuracy: RS x Congruency Pairwise Comparison

Rejection Sensitivity	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Average RS	Cong Incong.	0.10	0.04	2.48	0.01 *
High RS	Cong Incong.	0.21	0.07	2.97	0.0001 ***

V			
Block	Congruency	Estimate	SD
Social	Congruent	0.92	0.28
Social	Incongruent	0.93	0.27
Affect	Congruent	0.95	0.24
Affect	Incongruent	0.93	0.28
Neutral	Congruent	0.96	0.22
Neutral	Incongruent	0.95	0.23

Accuracy: Block x Congruency Estimated Marginal Means

Table A20

Accuracy: Block x Congruency Pairwise Comparison

	0 2	I			
Block	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Social	Cong Incong.	-0.16	0.06	-2.58	0.01 *
Affect	Cong Incong.	0.38	0.07	5.29	0.0001 ***
Neutral	Cong Incong.	0.25	0.08	3.25	0.0001 ***

Block	Rejection Sensitivity	Estimate	SD
Social	Average RS	0.93	0.27
Affect	Average RS	0.94	0.26
Neutral	Average RS	0.96	0.22
Social	High RS	0.92	0.30
Affect	High RS	0.94	0.26
Neutral	High RS	0.95	0.24

Accuracy: RS x Block Estimated Marginal Means

Table A22

Accuracy: RS x Block Pairwise Comparisons

Rejection Sensitivity	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Average RS	SOCIAL - AFFECT	-0.13	0.05	-2.80	0.01 *
Average RS	SOCIAL - NEUTRAL	-0.50	0.05	-9.56	0.0001 ***
Average RS	AFFECT - NEUTRAL	-0.36	0.05	-6.74	0.0001 ***
High RS	SOCIAL - AFFECT	-0.36	0.08	-4.35	0.0001 ***
High RS	SOCIAL - NEUTRAL	-0.49	0.08	-5.83	0.0001 ***
High RS	AFFECT - NEUTRAL	-0.14	0.09	-1.50	0.29

Block	Flanker	Estimate	SD
Social	Нарру	0.93	0.28
Social	Contempt	0.93	0.25
Affect	Positive	0.94	0.22
Affect	Negative	0.94	0.27
Neutral	Spiral	0.95	0.26
Neutral	Circle	0.95	0.23

Accuracy: Block x Flanker Estimated Marginal Means

Table A24

Accuracy: Block x Flanker Pairwise Comparisons

Block	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Social	Happy - Contempt	-0.01	0.06	-0.16	0.88
Affect	Pos. – Neg.	0.00	0.07	0.04	0.97
Neutral	Spiral - Circle	-0.02	0.08	-0.27	0.79

Rejection	Congruency	Block	Estimate	SD
	<u> </u>	0 1	0.02	0.07
Average RS	Congruent	Social	0.93	0.27
Average RS	Incongruent	Social	0.93	0.26
High RS	Congruent	Social	0.91	0.31
High RS	Incongruent	Social	0.93	0.28
Average RS	Congruent	Affect	0.95	0.24
Average RS	Incongruent	Affect	0.93	0.27
High RS	Congruent	Affect	0.95	0.23
High RS	Incongruent	Affect	0.93	0.28
Average RS	Congruent	Neutral	0.96	0.21
Average RS	Incongruent	Neutral	0.96	0.22
High RS	Congruent	Neutral	0.96	0.22
High RS	Incongruent	Neutral	0.94	0.26

1 courses.	DCv	Plack x	Conomiona	Estimated	Marginal	Moana
Accuracy:	KSX	<i>БЮСК Х</i>	Congruency	Estimatea	marginai	means

Note: Estimate shown as proportion of correct response

Table A26

Table A25

Accuracy. As x block x $Congruency r arrwise Compariso$	Accuracy:	RSx	Block x	Congruency	Pairwise	Compariso
---	-----------	-----	---------	------------	----------	-----------

Rejection Sensitivity	Block	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Average	Social	Cong Incong.	-0.07	0.07	-1.14	0.25
High	Social	Cong Incong.	-0.25	0.11	-2.33	0.02 *
Average	Affect	Cong Incong.	0.28	0.07	3.98	0.0001 ***
High	Affect	Cong Incong.	0.48	0.12	3.83	0.0001 ***
Average	Neutral	Cong Incong.	0.11	0.08	1.30	0.19
High	Neutral	Cong Incong.	0.39	0.13	3.02	0.0001 ***

Flanker	Congruency	Block	Estimate	SD
Нарру	Congruent	Social	0.92	0.28
Нарру	Incongruent	Social	0.93	0.27
Contempt	Congruent	Social	0.92	0.28
Contempt	Incongruent	Social	0.93	0.27
Positive	Congruent	Affect	0.94	0.27
Positive	Incongruent	Affect	0.94	0.24
Negative	Congruent	Affect	0.96	0.21
Negative	Incongruent	Affect	0.91	0.31
Spiral	Congruent	Neutral	0.96	0.20
Spiral	Incongruent	Neutral	0.94	0.24
Circle	Congruent	Neutral	0.95	0.23
Circle	Incongruent	Neutral	0.95	0.22

Table A27			
Accuracy: Block x Flanker x Congruency	Estimated	Marginal	Means

Note: Estimate shown as proportion of correct responses

Table A28

Accuracy: Block x Flanker x Congruency Pairwise Comparisons

		0 /		1		
Congruency	Block	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Congruent	Social	Happy - Contempt	-0.03	0.09	-0.38	0.70
Congruent	Affect	Pos. – Neg.	-0.52	0.11	-4.77	0.0001 ***
Congruent	Neutral	Spiral - Circle	0.20	0.12	1.74	0.08
Incongruent	Social	Happy - Contempt	0.01	0.09	0.14	0.89
Incongruent	Affect	Pos. – Neg.	0.53	0.09	5.75	0.0001 ***
Incongruent	Neutral	Spiral - Circle	-0.24	0.10	-2.39	0.02 *

	-,	
Block	Estimate	SD
Social	-2.14	4.78
Affect	-3.26	4.96
Neutral	-2.24	4.58

N2: Estimated Marginal Means of Block

Table A30

112.1 u_{11} u_{11} u_{11} u_{11} u_{11} u_{12} u_{13} u_{13} u_{11} u_{11} u_{11} u_{11} u_{12} u_{13} $u_$	<i>N2</i> :	Paired	T-tests	of Bloc	k
--	-------------	--------	---------	---------	---

	2						
Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р			
Social - Affect	1.09	0.08	14.08	<.0001 ***			
Social - Neutral	0.07	0.08	0.88	0.38			
Affect - Neutral	-1.02	0.08	-13.43	<.0001 ***			
Significance: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1							

Rejection Sensitivity Mean SE Block Average Social -2.71 0.30 High Social -1.63 0.57 Average Affect 0.30 -3.49 High Affect -3.04 0.57 -2.29 Average Neutral 0.30 High Neutral -2.19 0.57

 Table A31

 N2: Block x RS Estimated Marginal Means

N2: Block x RS Pairwise Comparison

Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Average RS Social - High RS Social	-1.09	0.64	-1.70	0.15
Average RS Social - Average RS Affect	0.80	0.07	11.32	<.0001 ***
Average RS Social - High RS Affect	0.34	0.64	0.53	0.64
Average RS Social - Average RS Neutral	-0.40	0.07	-5.67	<.0001 ***
Average RS Social - High RS Neutral	-0.50	0.64	-0.79	0.54
High RS Social - Average RS Affect	1.88	0.64	2.94	0.0071 **
High RS Social - High RS Affect	1.43	0.14	10.25	<.0001 ***
High RS Social - Average RS Neutral	0.69	0.64	1.07	0.39
High RS Social - High RS Neutral	0.58	0.14	4.23	<.0001 ***
Average RS Affect - High RS Affect	-0.46	0.64	-0.72	0.55
Average RS Affect - Average RS Neutral	-1.20	0.07	-17.09	<.0001 ***
Average RS Affect - High RS Neutral	-1.30	0.64	-2.03	0.08
High RS Affect - Average RS Neutral	-0.74	0.64	-1.15	0.37
High RS Affect - High RS Neutral	-0.84	0.14	-6.21	<.0001 ***
Average RS Neutral - High RS Neutral	-0.10	0.64	-0.16	0.87

Note: Tukey HSD used to correct for multiple comparison

Significance: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

Trial	Block	Mean	SE
1	Social	-2.40	0.33
2	Social	-2.18	0.33
3	Social	-1.92	0.34
1	Affect	-3.35	0.32
2	Affect	-3.04	0.33
3	Affect	-3.42	0.34
1	Neutral	-2.16	0.32
2	Neutral	-2.21	0.33
3	Neutral	-2.36	0.34

Table A33 N2: Block x Trial Estimated Marginal Means

N2 · Block x Trial Pairwise Comparison

Block	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Social	tri1 - tri2	-0.22	0.13	-1.62	0.24
Social	tri1 - tri3	-0.46	0.15	-2.98	0.0082 **
Social	tri2 - tri3	-0.24	0.14	-1.71	0.2
Affect	tri1 - tri2	-0.32	0.13	-2.43	0.04 *
Affect	tri1 - tri3	0.09	0.15	0.56	0.84
Affect	tri2 - tri3	0.41	0.14	2.93	0.0096 **
Neutral	tri1 - tri2	0.07	0.13	0.50	0.87
Neutral	tri1 - tri3	0.22	0.15	1.46	0.31
Neutral	tri2 - tri3	0.15	0.14	1.11	0.51

Flanker	Congruency	RS	Mean	SE
A	Congruent	Average	-2.74	0.30
В	Congruent	Average	-2.97	0.30
А	Incongruent	Average	-2.88	0.30
В	Incongruent	Average	-2.73	0.30
А	Congruent	High	-2.33	0.58
В	Congruent	High	-2.21	0.58
А	Incongruent	High	-2.23	0.58
В	Incongruent	High	-2.38	0.58

N2: RS x Congruency x Flanker Estimated Marginal Means

Note: A = Happy, Positive, or Spiral Flankers; B = Contempt, Negative, or Circle Flankers.

Table A36

N2: Congruency x RS x Flanker Pairwise Comparisons

RS	Flanker	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
Average	٨	Congruent -	0.14	0.08	1 757727	0.08
RS	A	Incongruent	0.14	0.08	1./3//2/	0.08
High RS	٨	Congruent -	-0.10	0.16	-0 632073	0.53
Ingli K5	Λ	Incongruent	-0.10	0.10	-0.032773	0.55
Average	В	Congruent -	_0.23	0.08	-2 023/70	0 0035 **
RS	D	Incongruent	-0.23	0.00	-2.723477	0.0055
High RS	В	Congruent -	0.17	0.16	1 064961	0.29
ingn K5	D	Incongruent	0.17	0.10	1.007/01	0.27

Note: A = Happy, Positive , or Spiral Flankers; B = Contempt, Negative, or Circle Flankers. Tukey HSD used to correct for multiple comparison

Significance: 0 **** 0.001 *** 0.01 ** 0.05 *. 0.1 * 1

NZ. RS & Congrue	ency x Iriai Estimatea	Marginai Means		
RS	Block	Trial	Mean	SE
Average RS	SOCIAL	1	-3.14	0.30
Average RS	SOCIAL	2	-2.56	0.30
Average RS	SOCIAL	3	-2.42	0.31
High RS	SOCIAL	1	-1.66	0.58
High RS	SOCIAL	2	-1.80	0.59
High RS	SOCIAL	3	-1.43	0.61
Average RS	AFFECT	1	-3.51	0.30
Average RS	AFFECT	2	-3.41	0.30
Average RS	AFFECT	3	-3.56	0.31
High RS	AFFECT	1	-3.19	0.58
High RS	AFFECT	2	-2.66	0.59
High RS	AFFECT	3	-3.29	0.61
Average RS	NEUTRAL	1	-2.23	0.30
Average RS	NEUTRAL	2	-2.29	0.30
Average RS	NEUTRAL	3	-2.36	0.32
High RS	NEUTRAL	1	-2.09	0.58
High RS	NEUTRAL	2	-2.13	0.59
High RS	NEUTRAL	3	-2.36	0.61

 Table A37

 N2: RS x Congruency x Trial Estimated Marginal Means

112. DIOCKA IIIUU A NO I UU WISC COMDUNSON	N2:	Block x	Trial x	RS Pairwis	e Comparison
--	-----	---------	---------	------------	--------------

		1				
Block	Trial	Contrast	Estimate	SE	Ζ	р
SOCIAL	1	AVERAGE- HIGH	-1.48	0.65	-2.27	0.023 *
AFFECT	1	AVERAGE- HIGH	-0.32	0.65	-0.50	0.62
NEUTRAL	1	AVERAGE- HIGH	-0.14	0.65	-0.21	0.83
SOCIAL	2	AVERAGE- HIGH	-0.76	0.66	-1.15	0.25
AFFECT	2	AVERAGE- HIGH	-0.76	0.66	-1.14	0.25
NEUTRAL	2	AVERAGE- HIGH	-0.16	0.66	-0.24	0.81
SOCIAL	3	AVERAGE- HIGH	-0.98	0.69	-1.43	0.15
AFFECT	3	AVERAGE- HIGH	-0.27	0.69	-0.39	0.7
NEUTRAL	3	AVERAGE- HIGH	0.00	0.68	0.00	1



Appendix II: Supplemental Figures

Figure A1 *Reaction Time: Main effect of Congruency Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A2 *Reaction Time: Main effect of Block Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*


Figure A3 *Reaction Time: Congruency x Flanker Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A4 *Reaction Time: Rejection Sensitivity x Flanker Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A5 *Reaction Time: Block x Congruency Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A6 *Reaction Time: Block x Rejection Sensitivity Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A7 *Reaction Time: Block x Flanker x Congruency Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A8 *Accuracy: Main Effect of Rejection Sensitivity Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A9 *Accuracy: Main Effect of Block Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A10 *Accuracy: Block x Congruency Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A11 *Accuracy: Rejection Sensitivity x Block Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A12 Accuracy: Block x Flanker Interaction *Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A13 *Accuracy: Rejection Sensitivity x Congruency x Block Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A14 *Accuracy: Block x Congruency x Flanker Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A15 *N2: Main Effect of Block* Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.



Figure A16 *Topographical Scalp Maps: Block Note: Left = Social; Middle = Affect; Right = Neutral;*





Note: Waveforms across time over front-central leads. N2 time-window shown highlighted in grey.



Figure A18 *N2: Block x Rejection Sensitivity Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A19 N2: Block x Rejection Sensitivity :Scalp Topography and Waveform plots Note: (A) Topographical Scalp Maps averaged over 300-400ms. First Row: Left = Average RS, Social block; Middle = Average RS, Affect block; Right = Average RS, Neutral Block; Second Row: Left = High RS, Social block; Middle = High RS, Affect block; Right = High RS, Neutral block; (B) Waveform plots averaged over ROI; N2 highlighted in grey; Left = Social block; Middle = Affect block; Right = Neutral block;



Figure A20 *N2: Block x Trial Interaction* Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.



Figure A21 N2 Waveform plots: Block x Trial Note: Waveforms averaged over ROI; N2 indicated in grey; Left = Trial block 1; Middle = Trial block 2; Right = Trial block 3;



Figure A22 *N2: Rejection Sensitivity x Congruency x Flanker Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A23 N2 Waveform plots: RS x Congruency x Flanker Note: Waveforms averaged over ROI; N2 indicated in grey; First Row: Left = Average RS, Flanker A; Right = High RS, Flanker A; Second Row: Left = Average RS, Flanker B; Right = High RS, Flanker B;



Figure A24 *N2: Rejection Sensitivity x Block x Trial Interaction Note: Error bars represent standard error of the mean.*



Figure A25 *N2 Waveform Plots: RS x Block x Trial Note: Waveform plots averaged over ROI; N2 indicated in grey; Left = Trial block 1, Social; Middle = Trial block 1, Affect; Right = Trial block 1, Neutral;*

Appendix III: IRB Approval Letter



APPROVAL

May 20, 2022

Rachel Gaynor

Dear Rachel Gaynor:

On 5/20/2022, the IRB reviewed and approved the following protocol:

Application Type:	Initial Study
IRB ID:	STUDY004148
Review Type:	Expedited 4, 7
Title:	The Relationship Between Rejection Sensitivity and Higher
	Order Cognitive Functions
Approved Protocol and	RSEF Protocol Version 1 5-18-2022 .docx;
Consent(s)/Assent(s):	4148 RSEF Informed Consent;
	Approved study documents can be found under the 'Documents' tab in the main study workspace. Use the stamped consent found under the 'Last Finalized' column under the 'Documents' tab.

Within 30 days of the anniversary date of study approval, confirm your research is ongoing by clicking Confirm Ongoing Research in BullsIRB, or if your research is complete, submit a study closure request in BullsIRB by clicking Create Modification/CR.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

Sincerely,

Jennifer Walker IRB Research Compliance Administrator

Institutional Review Boards / Research Integrity & Compliance FWA No. 00001669 University of South Florida / 3702 Spectrum Blvd., Suite 165 / Tampa, FL 33612 / 813-974-5638 Data 1 of

Page 1 of 1